
17 October 2019

NOTICE OF MEETING

POLICY AND PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY PANEL
will meet on

Tuesday, 22 October 2019
beginning at

6:30 pm
in

Rooms 11/12/13, Eastleigh House, Upper Market Street, Eastleigh SO50 9YN

TO: Councillor Richard Gomer (Chair)
Councillor Malcolm Cross (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Alan Broadhurst
Councillor Margaret Allingham
Councillor Janice Asman
Councillor Nicholas Couldrey
Councillor Jephthe Doguie
Councillor Tim Groves
Councillor Lucy Jurd
Councillor David Pragnell
Councillor Sara Tyson-Payne
Councillor Judith Grajewski
Councillor Gin Tidridge
Councillor Rupert Kyrle

CC: Councillor Keith House Council Leader

Staff Contacts: Claire Brown, Case Management Officer; Tel: 023 8068 8498; 
Email: claire.brown@eastleigh.gov.uk

Natalie Wigman, Corporate Director Tel: 023 8068 8405 
Email: natalie.wigman@eastleigh.gov.uk

GAETANA WISEMAN
Head of Performance and Governance

____________________________________________________________________

Copies of this and all other agendas can be accessed via the 
Council's website - http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/meetings as well as in 

other formats, including Braille, audio, large print and other 
languages, upon request.

Members of the public are invited to speak on general items at the 
start of the meeting, and on individual agenda items at the time the 

item is discussed.  To register please contact the Democratic 
Services Officer above.

Eastleigh House 
Upper Market Street
Eastleigh SO50 9YN

1

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/meetings


Please be aware that Eastleigh Borough Council permits filming, 
sound recording and photography at meetings open to the public, and  
Councillors will be using tablet devices to access committee papers.

AGENDA

1. Public Participation    

2. Minutes    (Pages 5 - 8) 

To consider the Minutes of the meeting held on 5 September 2019.

3. Apologies    

4. Declarations of Interest     

Members are invited to declare interests in relation to items of business on the 
agenda.  Any interests declared will be recorded in the Minutes.

5. Chair's Report    (Verbal Report)

6. Enforcement Policy    (Pages 9 - 28)

7. Quarterly Corporate & Financial Monitoring Report    

8. Climate Change and Environmental Emergency Strategy and Action Plan    (Pages 
29 - 80)

9. Environment Portfolio: Waste & Recycling    (Verbal Report)

10. Cabinet Forward Plan    (Pages 81 - 90)

11. Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel's Work Programme    (Pages 91 - 94)

Your Council’s electronic news service - e-news  -

Register your email address free with the Council and keep up to date with what’s 
happening in the Borough.  Simply select your topics and we will send you email 

updates with news as it happens including new Council Jobs, What’s On, Recycling, 
Transport plus lots more. www.eastleigh.gov.uk/enews 

1. FIELD_TITLE

DATE OF NEXT MEETING
Monday, 18 November 2019 at 7:00 pm

in Rooms 11/12/13, Eastleigh House, Upper Market Street, Eastleigh SO50 9YN

2

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/enews


2. FIELD_TITLE

3



This page is intentionally left blank



1

POLICY AND PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY PANEL

Thursday, 5 September 2019  (7:02 pm – 9:26 pm)

PRESENT:

Councillor Gomer (Chair); Councillors Broadhurst, Allingham, Asman, 
Doguie, Groves, Tyson-Payne and Tidridge 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Cross, Couldrey, 
Jurd and Grajewski

________________________________________

RESOLVED ITEMS (SUBJECT TO QUESTIONS ONLY)

36. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

There was no public participation on this occasion.

37. MINUTES

It was AGREED -

That the Minutes of the meeting of the Panel held on 10 July 2019 be 
confirmed and signed by the Chairman as a correct record.

38. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

There were no declarations of interest in relation to items of business on 
the agenda.

39. CHAIR'S REPORT

The Chair raised consideration of the formation of a Health and Wellbeing 
Task and Finish group. Councillors Asman, Tyson-Payne and Tidridge 
expressed their interest in forming the group. 

40. TRANSPORT PORTFOLIO SESSION

Consideration was given to a presentation by Councillor Airey, the 
Sustainable Transport Planner and the Head of Direct Services. The 
presentation provided Panel with an overview of the transport portfolio and 
the progress of work being undertaken in the current financial year. 

The Head of Direct Services informed the Committee of the revised date of 
October 2019 for the optimisation of the waste fleet. The optimisation of 
the remainder of the fleet is due for completion in Autumn 2020. The Head 
of Direct Services reported that sustainable vehicles and equipment were 
being considered. Concern was raised with regards to the use of the weed 

5

Agenda Item 2



2

killer ‘glyphosate’. The Head of Direct Services confirmed that this type of 
weed killer is used as part of the contract with Hampshire County Council 
and its use will be raised with them directly. 

With regards to air quality, the Sustainable Transport Planner confirmed 
that the Air Quality Action Plan consultation period dates are from 2 
September 2019 to 11 October 2019. It was also confirmed that the final 
Air Quality Action Plan would be presented to Cabinet on 16 January 
2020. 
Concern was raised with regards to the Bishopstoke Road/Chickenhall 
Lane Junction Improvements, in particular to congestion and safety. The 
Committee requested a proposed date for the scheme delivery. The 
Sustainable Transport Planner confirmed that a date had not yet been set, 
as it had not been ascertained whether the works would be completed by 
Eastleigh Borough Council or Hampshire County Council. The Senior 
Engineering Specialist confirmed that the necessary information to 
determine this has been requested from Hampshire County Council and 
should be returned shortly. 

The Chair requested that the Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel 
become involved in the Cycling and Walking Strategy in Spring 2020, prior 
to public consultation. 

It was confirmed that Air Quality will be returning to the Committee in 
October 2019. 

The Sustainable Transport Planner confirmed that a Sustainable Travel 
Strategy would be presented to the Committee in the future. The Chair 
asked whether the Panel could scrutinise the aims of the subsidised bus 
services tender in the future; and Cllr Airey informed the Panel that it 
would depend on the timetable set by Hampshire County Council who run 
the service on behalf of the Council. 

The Chair thanked Cllr Airey for his attendance and contribution to the 
work of the panel. Cllr Airey left the meeting at 8:55pm. 

41. UPDATE FROM BREXIT WORKING GROUP

Members of the Brexit Working Group provided the following update that: 

- An Action Plan has been created to tackle the implications of a no-
deal exit from the European Union. The Plan tackles areas such as 
staffing and local business;

- That the potential direct implications to the Council and Borough of 
Eastleigh are considered to be low, overall.  However, the 
significant implications that have been highlighted are on residents, 
for example difficulty in recruiting people into the care industry, or 
due to economic factors as a result of a recession. 

6



3

- Southampton Airport is not expecting any significant issues as a 
result of Brexit. 

42. UPDATE ON PERFORMANCE ISSUES FROM LAST QUARTERLY 
MONITORING

(a) Revenues – The Head of Economy and Business updated that the 
previous Revenue and Benefits backlog has been mitigated. The 
Revenue and Benefits Department is in the process of 
implementing:
- Increased staffing in Case Management (through recruitment 

and temporary staffing), and
- A specialised IT module that allows Customer Services to 

authorise payment instalments directly. 

It was also confirmed that a Senior Specialist in Revenues and a 
Senior Specialist in Council Tax have been recruited. The Head of 
Economy and Business reported that the backlog should be cleared 
by the end of the calendar year. 

(b) Bin Collections – The Head of Direct Services confirmed that 
missed bin figures are reducing and highlighted that a correlation 
has been identified between sickness and missed bin collection 
figures. Other factors contributing to missed bin collections are:
- New housing developments around the Borough;
- Access to estates; and,
- Increased use of the food waste refuse service

A new smaller vehicle has been purchased to mitigate the issue of 
access to new housing developments. The Local Engagement 
Team had begun contacting residents to advise them of parking 
issues in relation to bin collection. 

(c) Democratic Services – The Corporate Director for Strategy 
updated that Democratic Services have recruited additional staff to 
manage and minute Committees.

43. SCRUTINY TRAINING - DISCUSSION AND OPTIONS

The Chair proposed that an evening session of scrutiny training be 
arranged for the members of the Committee. The Panel will receive 
specific scrutiny training facilitated by the Centre for Public Scrutiny. 

7



4

44. CABINET FORWARD PLAN

The Panel considered the Forward Plan of Key Decisions published on 27 
August 2019 and covering the period September 2019 – April 2020. 

It was AGREED 

That the Forward Plan be noted.

45. POLICY AND PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY PANEL'S WORK 
PROGRAMME

Panel members considered their Work Programme to March 2020.  

It was proposed that the meeting of 22 October 2019 start at 6:30 pm and 
not 7:00 pm. 

It was AGREED 

That the amended Work Programme be noted.

8



POLICY & PERFROMANCE

TUESDAY 22 OCTOBER 2019

CABINET

THURSDAY 14 NOVEMBER 2019

 LOCAL PLANNING ENFORCEMENT POLICY  

REPORT OF THE HEAD OF HOUSING AND DEVLEOPMENT

Recommendations

It is recommended that Policy & Performance Scrutiny Panel:

(1) note the Local Planning Enforcement Policy and make any recommendations 
to Cabinet and;

It is recommended that Cabinet:

(2) note any comments and suggestions made by the Policy and Performance 
Scrutiny Panel and approve the Local Planning Enforcement Policy. 

Summary
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) recommends publishing a local 
enforcement plan to manage enforcement proactively, in a way that is appropriate to their 
area. This should set out how the council will monitor the implementation of planning 
permissions, investigate alleged cases of unauthorised development and take action 
where appropriate. In response to national guidance and the Council’s commitment to a 
more robust enforcement service Eastleigh Borough Council’s Local Planning 
Enforcement Policy has been updated.

Statutory Powers

Town and Country Planning Act (1990)

Strategic Implications 

1. The Local Planning Enforcement Policy provides a robust basis on which to 
ensure development within the Borough is brought forward as planned and 
provides clarity on the measures that can be taken to address breaches of 

9

Agenda Item 6



Eastleigh Borough Council

planning legislation where it is harmful to the environment and public amenity. 
The Policy plays a significant part in addressing three strategic priorities of:

 Excellent environment for all
 Enabling healthier lifestyles / wellbeing
 Increased provision and more diverse mix of housing
Introduction

2. Effective enforcement is important to maintain public confidence in the 
planning system. Enforcement action is discretionary, and local planning 
authorities should act proportionately in responding to suspected breaches of 
planning control. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
recommends Local Planning Authorities (LPA) provide clarity on their 
enforcement powers and clearly set out how alleged planning breaches will be 
investigated within an enforcement plan. 

3. The Council sought a review of all Council enforcement services with initial 
focus being on three key areas; planning enforcement, fly tipping and parking 
enforcement. A recommendation of this review was to ensure that the 
planning enforcement service adopted a robust approach to planning 
breaches and that certainty is provided to the public and councillors. 

4. The Local Planning Enforcement Policy has been updated to set out the 
Council’s approach to effective enforcement and provide indicators to 
measure the quality of the enforcement service against. 

Planning Enforcement - an improved service. 

5. The Local Planning Enforcement Policy has been rewritten in accordance with 
best practice and gives clarity on the level of service to be provided. The 
Policy provides guidance on the prioritisation of planning breaches; the level 
of service that can be expected and for the first time includes performance 
indicators to measure the performance of the service; from first action through 
to closure of the case. The performance figures are to be monitored monthly 
and quarterly to ensure the enforcement service is delivered to an agreed 
quality that is proportionate, consistent, transparent and targeted. 

6. The amendments to the former Enforcement Plan are as follows;

 Enforcement Principles – Clarity on the four principles Proportionality, 
Consistency, Transparency and Targeting & the difference between Reactive 
and Proactive enforcement.

 Information on the two types of planning permission – Express & 
Deemed Planning Permission

 Updated priorities for the team (Priority 1 to 4) – Revised Priority list to 
reflect current issues.

 KPI’s – Amended targets for concluding investigations.

10



Eastleigh Borough Council

 Information Gathering Tools – How we can use them effectively to resolve 
enforcement investigations.

 Formal Enforcement Action – Guidance on how to take formal enforcement 
action with details on each type of Notice, course of action and cautions.

 EBC Enforcement Register – Details on how to find the EBC Enforcement 
Register.

 Additional information - Unauthorised Advertisements, Investigation 
Standards and what the public can do to help?

7. The Local Planning Enforcement Policy will be reviewed every two years to 
ensure the service aligns with the best practice and the Council’s wider 
Enforcement Strategy. 

8. The Local Planning Enforcement Policy is attached for reference. 

Financial Implications

9. There are no additional financial implications attached to this policy

Risk Assessment

10.  There are no risks in supporting this policy document which has been written 
after careful consideration of best practice, legislative requirements and 
council resources. 

Equality and Diversity Implications

11. The Equality Act is not relevant to the decision in this report as the decision 
does not relate to eliminating discrimination, advancing equality of opportunity, 
or fostering good relations between different people.  An Equality Impact 
Assessment has not been carried out.

Conclusion

12. The Local Plan Enforcement Policy has been written to reflect the Council’s 
desire to deliver a more performance orientated and robust planning 
enforcement service. The changes included within the policy will lead to 
significant improvements to the service provided.

13. It is recommended that the Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel supports 
the revised policy.

ANDY GRANDFIELD
HEAD OF HOUSING AND DEVELOPMENT 

Date: 04 OCTOBER 2019*
CONTACT OFFICER: ANDY GRANDFIELD 

11



Eastleigh Borough Council

Tel No: 023 8068 8267
e-mail: andy.grandfield@eastleigh.gov.uk
Appendices Attached: 1

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information.

* List Background Papers or state None.

12



Eastleigh Borough Council Local Enforcement Policy 1

LOCAL PLANNING 
ENFORCEMENT POLICY

September 2019

13



Eastleigh Borough Council Local Enforcement Policy 2

Contents

1. Introduction

2. Key Principles of Planning Enforcement

3. Enforcement Concordat

4. What is a breach of planning control?

5. What is Planning Harm?

6. What are our priorities?

7. How do I report an alleged breach of planning control?

8. Confidentiality

9. How long will the investigation take?

10. What if someone makes a report about me or my property?

11. Investigating breaches of planning control

12. Immunity from Enforcement Action 

13. Enforcement Tools for gathering evidence

14. Possible Outcomes

15. Formal Enforcement Action

16. Advertisements

17. Investigation Standards

18. What can the public do to help? 

14



Eastleigh Borough Council Local Enforcement Policy 3

1. Introduction

This policy sets out Eastleigh Borough Council’s approach to planning enforcement. The 
Council will always follow an enforcement option that is commensurate with the breach of 
planning control to which it relates.  However, Eastleigh Borough Council will be robust in the 
approach towards breaches of planning control through negotiation and enforcement. The 
starting point for each investigation will be to take formal enforcement action unless there is an 
appropriate alternative solution available. 

Effective enforcement is important as a means of maintaining public confidence in the planning 
system.  Enforcement powers are discretionary and the Council is not required to take action 
just because there has been a breach of planning control.  It is important to appreciate that 
enforcement action cannot be taken if the works, or change of use, do not require 
permission/consent, or if it is permitted by legislation.  For this reason action cannot be taken 
on many of the reports we receive of alleged unauthorised development. 

There are four main regimes within planning legislation and they are:

1. Development including building, engineering and mining operations; and material change 
of use of buildings/land

2. Advertisements and signs

3. Listed Buildings consent and conservation area

4. Natural Environment including Tree Preservation Orders and all trees within conservation 
areas.

Advertisements, Listed Buildings and unauthorised works to protected trees carry a criminal 
liability. 

A breach of planning law is not a criminal offence.  A criminal offence will only arise when 
a formal notice has been issued, it has taken effect and the requirements have not been 
complied with.  Failure to comply with the notice means the Council can then consider bringing 
a prosecution in the criminal court.

2. Key Principles of Planning Enforcement 

National and local planning policy provides the framework for acceptable development. 

Planning enforcement can be reactive or proactive.

 Reactive – Reports of alleged breaches of planning control can be made by any person 
including local residents, Councillors and Parish Councils.  

 Proactive – Monitoring of developments to ensure compliance with the approved plans 
and conditions. The intensity of an investigation will differ from site to site and is 
dependant on the nature of the development.  Staff aim to proactively and positively 
resolve any problems that may arise during the development phase.

15



Eastleigh Borough Council Local Enforcement Policy 4

Sites that may be selected for monitoring include:

1. Major Sites
2. Contentious sites
3. Sites with land contamination and piling conditions.

However, some sites are selected for monitoring at random; if your development site is 
selected, you will be informed.

3. Enforcement Principles

 Proportionality – Any action that is taken will relate to the seriousness of the breach. 
Staff will consider the full range of powers available to them which may include 
negotiation, inviting a retrospective planning application or taking formal enforcement 
action. In such cases the Council will proceed to enforcement action as a matter of 
course. However, the developer still has a right to apply for planning permission and if 
they do, enforcement action may be suspended pending the determination of a 
retrospective planning application. In all cases, the Council will consider the 
development itself and not how it came about.

 Consistency – Staff act in a similar way when faced with similar circumstances. The 
Council will also work with other services and Authorities to ensure that consistency is 
maintained at a local and national level as far as possible. It does not imply uniformity; 
rather a full and proper consideration of all the circumstances of a case, guided by the 
council's adopted policies and priorities, to establish what reasonable and adequate 
requirements will remedy the breach. 

 Transparency – The Council will try to help people understand what the law requires of 
them and make clear what needs to be done to achieve compliance. The Council will 
also make clear what people should do if they are not happy about any action taken or a 
decision not to take action.  The Council will also provide transparency and clarity on 
courses of action that will be undertaken. 

 Targeting– The Council’s enforcement efforts will be directed against those whose 
activities pose the most serious risks or create the most danger to the public interest 
and those who have a history of non-compliance. 

4. What is a breach of planning control?

As a district council, Eastleigh Borough Council has the authority to deal with all unauthorised 
development, with the exception of mining and mineral extraction and waste deposit and 
disposal which are enforced by Hampshire County Council.

Development is defined as:

“Except where the context otherwise requires…the carrying out of building, engineering, 
mining or other operations in, on, over or under land, or the making of any material change in 
the use of any buildings or other land” (S.55 Town and Country Planning Act 1990)

A breach of planning control is either:

 carrying out development without the required planning permission or

16



Eastleigh Borough Council Local Enforcement Policy 5

 failing to comply with any condition or limitation subject to which planning permission 
has been granted.

Breaches of planning control will include:

 Unauthorised structures 
 Development not in accordance with the approved plans of the planning permission 
 Material change of use of a building or land
 Failure to comply with the conditions attached to a planning permission 
 Failure to properly maintain land/buildings, adversely affecting amenity of the area
 Tree works undertaken without tree works consent

The following are not breaches of planning control:

 Parking of commercial vehicles in residential areas or on grass verges
 Operating a business from home where the residential use remains the primary use
 Clearing land of undergrowth, bushes and trees provided they are not subject to a 

planning condition or protection order
 Parking of a caravan within the curtilage of a residential property provided that it is 

stored, or used as an extra bedroom in conjunction with the mail dwelling and not used 
as a separate, self-contained residential unit

 Obstruction of a highway or right of way 
 Boundary disputes (civil matter) 
 Deeds and covenants (civil matter) 
 Disputes that relate to damage to or reduction in value of land or property. 
 Reduction in value of land or property
 Where development is 'permitted development' (see below)

The Council has a number of powers of enforcement in relation to other services such as 
highways, environmental health, trees etc. Investigations are often coordinated with other 
services so that any action is carried out under the most appropriate legislation.

All development requires a planning permission of which there are two types:

1) Express Planning Permission: Local Planning Authorities grant “express” planning 
permission through the planning application process.

2) Deemed Planning Permission: Also known as ‘permitted development’, this is planning 
permission which is granted by the classes listed within the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) Order 2015. Deemed planning permission is granted if the 
development conforms to the exceptions, limitations and conditions that apply to these 
classes. Prior approval can also be sought under this legislation for certain types of 
development. 

5. What is planning harm?

Enforcement action will only be taken where there is planning harm.  A key test is whether the 
breach of planning control would unacceptably affect public amenity and is a clear breach of 
planning policy. 

17



Eastleigh Borough Council Local Enforcement Policy 6

Evidence of unauthorised development will be assessed against material considerations as 
used by the Local Planning Authority when determining a planning application, including, but 
not limited to:

 Visual harm
 Change in character
 Privacy/ overbearing
 Daylight/ sunlight
 Noises/ smell etc.
 Access/ traffic
 Health & safety
 Undesirable precedent
 Ecology
 Related decisions
 Cumulative impact
 Sensitive site
 Ages of breach

6. What are the Council’s planning enforcement priorities?

It is not possible to investigate every complaint or carry out all investigations with equal priority 
and intensity.  Resource is directed to breaches that cause the greater planning harm. For 
example, potential permanent damage to a historic listed building will have a greater priority 
than a new shed in a residential garden. 

The priorities below can change during the course of an investigation:

Priority 1
Danger to the public?

Direct and potentially 
irreversible harm?

Priority 2
Potential to escalate and 
cause serious harm to the 

environment?

Contentious

Priority 3
Loss of amenity?

Other breaches likely to 
remain stable

Priority 4
Minor breaches

Private dispute?

Other issues

Site visit within 1 working 
day

Site visit within 10 
working days

Site visit within 20 working 
days

Desktop Assessment

Examples Examples Examples Examples

Unauthorised works to 
protected tree/s or tree/s  in 

a Conservation area

Unauthorised change of use 
of land and/or building

Untidy site Boundary treatment

Unauthorised works to listed 
building

Unauthorised building Unauthorised outbuildings/ 
Extensions

Telecommunications

Condition monitoring 
(contaminated land + piling)

Condition monitoring (minus 
contaminated land + piling)

Deviation from approved plans 
(new application required, 

minor variation or de minimis)

General enquiries

Demolition of a building 
essential to retain

Business from home (high 
activity levels)

Advertisement control (visual 
amenity)

Advertisement control(for 
sale / to let boards)

Caravans & development 
related to travellers

Advertisement control 
(highway safety)

Business from Home(initial 
investigations)

House in multiple 
occupation

18



Eastleigh Borough Council Local Enforcement Policy 7

Breach of condition (serious 
harm to amenity & ecology)

Breach of condition (all other 
alleged breaches)

Deviation from approved 
plans (irreversible harm)

Condition monitoring (Small 
schemes)

High hedges (fee applicable) Encroachment onto Council 
land

7. How do I report an alleged breach of planning control?

Anonymous reports will not be investigated unless they relate to a matter of public safety or 
irreversible public harm.

It is useful for us to have as much information as possible such as:

 Description of the alleged breach 
 Date the activity started, is it happening now, is it getting worse? 
 Site address (if it is a field, describe the surrounding area to help identify the exact site) 
 Name/address/telephone number of the site owner/occupier/builder/agent 
 Description of the 'harm' being caused e.g. noise, traffic, smells 
 Name/address/telephone number of the complainant.

Eastleigh Borough Council actively encourages the use of the on-line form to report an alleged 
breach of planning, which can be found by following this link:

https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/planning-building/planning/planning-
enforcement.aspx#Complaint. 

You can also contact Eastleigh Borough Council in person, by telephone on 02380 688000 or 
by letter to the following address;

Planning Enforcement 
Eastleigh Borough Council 
Eastleigh House
Upper Market Street
Eastleigh
Hampshire
SO50 9YN 

For out of hours contact, please ring, 02380 688000 and follow the option menu (This is strictly 
for emergencies only, such as the felling of a protected tree) 

8. Confidentiality

All investigations are dealt with in the strictest confidence and details of the complainant will 
not be made known without their agreement.  However, the nature of the alleged breach is not 
confidential.  Every effort is made to safeguard the confidentiality of the complainant but the 
Council cannot prevent assumptions being made by the site owner/occupier. 

9. How long will the investigation take?

19

https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/planning-building/planning/planning-enforcement.aspx#Complaint
https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/planning-building/planning/planning-enforcement.aspx#Complaint
https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/planning-building/planning/planning-enforcement.aspx#Complaint
https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/planning-building/planning/planning-enforcement.aspx#Complaint


Eastleigh Borough Council Local Enforcement Policy 8

An enforcement investigation can be lengthy and complex and the time taken to determine 
each case will vary. 

On receipt of an alleged breach the Council aims to:

 Register and acknowledge your complaint within 5 working days 
 Carry out the initial site visit:

o Priority 1 cases within 1 working day 
o Priority 2 cases within 10 working days
o Priority 3 cases within 20 working days
o Priority 4 cases will involve a desktop assessment and a site visit may not be 

required.
 Provide an update at key stages in the investigation and when significant progress has 

been made 
 Advise the person reporting and site owner/occupier of the outcome of the investigation 

and any further action required:
Priority 1 cases within 30 working days
Priority 2 cases within 90 working days
Priority 3 and 4 cases within 42 working days

10. What if someone makes a report about me or my property?

If you are contacted about an alleged breach of planning control you are entitled to know what 
the allegation is (but not who reported it) and you will be given an opportunity to respond on 
the alleged breach. Your co-operation may be sought to remedy a breach of planning control. 
A reasonable period of time will be allowed for you to do this.  In some circumstances, you 
may be invited to submit a retrospective planning application.

The Council will in most cases give you a chance to put matters right before taking formal 
action but if the breach is causing serious harm or nuisance to public amenity formal action will 
not be delayed by protracted negotiation.

11. Investigating breaches of planning control

Staff will research the planning history of the site, which may reveal that no breach has 
occurred or that further investigation is required.

Site Visit

In most cases, staff will undertake a site visit to establish whether a breach of planning control 
has taken place. 

Powers of Entry

The Council’s authorised officers have powers of entry under the provisions of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 to enter land to investigate alleged breaches of planning control, 
take notes, measurements and photographs. 

20



Eastleigh Borough Council Local Enforcement Policy 9

If the building is used as a house, 24 hours’ notice of the intended entry will be given to the 
occupier of the building.

If during a site visit staff are refused entry onto land or buildings, the Council has the right to 
apply to the Magistrates Court for a warrant to enter the property.  This course of action will 
only be taken in cases where it is considered both necessary and proportionate to the alleged 
breach under investigation.

Any person who wilfully obstructs an authorised officer acting in the exercise of a right of entry 
shall be guilty of an offence and liable on summary conviction to a fine not exceeding level 3 
on the standard scale. 

(https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1982/48/part/III/crossheading/introduction-of-standard-
scale-of-fines). 

The powers of entry assigned to carry out activities and investigations are pursuant to

 Section 196A, B and C, 214B, C and D 324, 325 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990.

 Section 88, 88A and 88B of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 
1990 (as amended) to enter land or premises at any reasonable time.

 Section 74 of the anti-social Behaviour Act 2003 for the purposes of complaints and 
appeals.

Information Gathering Tools

There are three tools used for gathering information on an alleged breach of planning control:

1. Planning Contravention Notice (PCN)
A planning contravention notice may be issued under section 171C of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 and can be used for  the following:

a. to allow the local planning authority to require any information that will assist for 
enforcement purposes about any operations being carried out; any use of; or any 
activities being carried out on the land, and;

b. to invite it’s recipient to respond constructively to the local planning authority about 
how any suspected breach of planning control may be satisfactorily remedied.

See Section 15 of this Policy for further information on PCN’s.

2. Section 330 Notice (Requisition for Information) 

A Section 330 Notice may be issued under Section 330 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 and is used to obtain information as to interests in land. The 
questions asked are;

 The nature of the interest in the premises of the person on whom the 
notice is served

 The name and address of any other person known to have an interest
 The purpose for which the premises are being used
 The time when that use began

21

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1982/48/part/III/crossheading/introduction-of-standard-scale-of-fines
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1982/48/part/III/crossheading/introduction-of-standard-scale-of-fines
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1982/48/part/III/crossheading/introduction-of-standard-scale-of-fines
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/section/171C
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/section/171C
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/section/330
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/section/330
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/section/330


Eastleigh Borough Council Local Enforcement Policy 10

 The name and address of any person known to the person on whom the 
notice is served as having used the premises for that purpose

 The time when any activities being carried out began

3. Section 16 Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976.

Section 16 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 allows the 
Local Authority to request particulars of persons interested in the land. 

These can be served on any person with an interest in the land or who use/rent the land 
or property. These notices do not register as a Land Charge and are not included on the 
Council’s Enforcement Register. Failure to respond to any of the above Notices within 
the specified time frame is a criminal offence. 

12. Immunity from Enforcement Action

If a breach of planning control has been ongoing for many years, the breach may become 
immune from enforcement action and therefore the development becomes lawful. (as if 
planning permission has been granted). However, this does not apply to Listed Building or 
Tree Preservation Order breaches; which are criminal offences and a prosecution can be 
brought.

Planning Enforcement breaches immunity timescales are listed below:

Activity Immune after
Operational development Substantially completed for 4 years +
Change of use of a building to a single dwelling house Continuous occupation for 4 years +

Change of use Continuous occupation at the same 
intensity for 10 years +

Breach of a condition on a planning permission Continuous non compliance for 10 
years +

Advertisements Continuous display for 10 years +

The Localism Act 2011 introduced the ‘Planning Enforcement Order’. A Planning Enforcement 
Order can be applied for from the Magistrates Court after the above time limits have expired if 
the breach of planning control has been deliberately concealed e.g. a house hidden within a 
barn for over 4 years. 

13. Possible Outcomes 

Many breaches of planning control reported are very minor and formal action cannot be 
justified, so it is important to be aware that the Council will not rectify all breaches of planning 
control and will only act when it is expedient.  Action will only be taken where there is an 
unacceptable effect on the built and natural environment and public amenity.  The outcome of 
each case will be based on the individual circumstances of each investigation and the planning 
merits of the unauthorised development.  The key test is whether the unauthorised 
development is causing harm having regard to the development plan policies and other 
material considerations.  This is often referred to as the ‘expediency test’.

The possible outcomes are:

22



Eastleigh Borough Council Local Enforcement Policy 11

 No breach of planning control: The development may be Permitted Development or 
is not within the control of planning legislation.

 There is a breach of planning control but it is not expedient to pursue: If a 
technical breach has taken place, for example a house extension that is marginally over 
Permitted Development limits then it is not normally worthwhile to take lengthy and 
expensive enforcement action over something that is causing minimal harm.

 The development is immune: The activity has been going on for so long or the 
structure has been substantially complete for such a long time that the development has 
become 'lawful'.

 Negotiate a resolution with the site owner/occupier: Many people do take the 
positive steps required to rectify the situation (eg. remove/reduce/alter/relocate) and 
formal enforcement action is only necessary in a small number of cases.

 Invite a retrospective planning application to regularise the breach: In some cases 
the most appropriate way to rectify a breach of planning control is to invite a 
retrospective planning application. This approach is taken when Planning Officers 
consider the principle of development accords with planning policy and there is a 
possibility that a planning application could be successful in light of relevant planning 
policies. We will only pursue the submission of a retrospective application if there is a 
need to control the breach of planning through conditions. An invitation to submit a 
retrospective planning application will not prejudice either the subsequent 
recommendation or the ultimate decision of the Council as each application is 
considered on its merits.

 Take formal enforcement action: If we are unable to negotiate a resolution or the 
breach is considered so severe that a retrospective application would not be invited the 
Council has the power to take formal enforcement action. The nature of the breach will 
dictate what route the Council chooses to pursue. Failure to comply with a formal notice 
leaves the site owner/occupier open to the risk of prosecution. Alternatively, the Council 
may take direct action to undertake the appropriate works and recover the costs.

15. Formal Enforcement Action 

The Council’s approach to formal enforcement action is built around a process of a number of 
steps before enforcement action is taken. The following are the course of actions that may be 
taken in relation to formal Notices.

Planning Enforcement Notice (PCN) 

A planning contravention notice may be issued under section 171C of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 and can be used to do the following:

 allow the local planning authority to require any information they want for 
enforcement purposes about any operations being carried out; any use of; or any 
activities being carried out on the land, and;

 can be used to invite its recipient to respond constructively to the local planning 
authority about how any suspected breach of planning control may be satisfactorily 
remedied.

A planning contravention notice may only be served when it appears to the local planning 
authority that a breach of planning control may have occurred and they want to find out 
more information before deciding what if any enforcement action to take. It should not be 
used to undertake an investigative trawl just to satisfy the local planning authority about 
what activities are taking place on a parcel of land.

23

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/section/171C
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/section/171C


Eastleigh Borough Council Local Enforcement Policy 12

This is a discretionary procedure – the local planning authority need not serve a planning 
contravention notice before considering whether it is expedient to issue an enforcement 
notice or to take any other appropriate enforcement action.

A planning contravention notice is not available for use where there are suspected 
breaches of listed building or conservation area control, hazardous substances control or 
control of protected trees.

There is no requirement to enter a planning contravention notice in the local planning 
authority’s register of enforcement notices, stop notices and breach of condition notices. 
The notice is not a legal charge on the land.

A failure to complete or return a notice within 21 days is an offence, as is providing false or 
misleading information on the notice (section 171D of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990).

Enforcement Notice (EN) 

The power to issue an Enforcement Notice (EN) is granted by (section 172 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990). An EN is the most widely used power available to remedy a 
breach of planning control that relates to unauthorised building works, a change of use or 
possibly a breach of condition. The Notice must clearly state:

1. The alleged breach of planning control 

2. What is required to remedy the breach of planning control 

3. The time available to comply with the requirements of the Notice (compliance period) 

The Notice has to be served on anyone having an interest in the land. 

There is a right of appeal for anyone who has an interest in the land to which the EN 
relates, or who is a relevant occupier on the following grounds: 

a. That planning permission ought be granted or the condition or limitation 
concerned ought to be discharged;

b. That the matters stated in the enforcement notice have not occurred; 
c. That the matters stated in the enforcement notice (if they occurred) do not 

constitute a breach of planning control; 
d. at the date when the notice was issued, no enforcement action could be taken; 
e. The  copies of the enforcement notice were not served in accordance with the 

relevant statutory requirements; 
f. the steps required by the notice to be taken, or the activities required by the 

notice to cease, exceed what is necessary either to remedy any breach of a 
planning control or to remedy any injury to amenity which has been caused by 
any such breach; and/or

g. That any period specified in the notice falls short of what should reasonably be 
allowed.

An EN takes effect when the time limit available for lodging an appeal (at least 28 days 
after service) has expired. In the event that an appeal is lodged any enforcement action 
is suspended pending the outcome. An Inspector can uphold the Notice in its entirety, 

24

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/section/171D
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/section/171D
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/section/172
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/section/172


Eastleigh Borough Council Local Enforcement Policy 13

vary a Notice (providing it is only a minor change) or quash the Notice. In the event the 
Notice is upheld (changed or unchanged) the date of the Inspectors decision letter will 
be the start date for the compliance date. 

Breach of Condition Notice (BCN)

The power to serve a BCN is contained in section 187A of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990. 

A notice can be issued either:

 Where a condition of a planning permission has not been compiled with during 
the development stage i.e. failure to provide fencing to protect trees while a 
development is underway, or

 Following completion, failing to comply with restrictions or limitations of a 
planning permission i.e. a breach of opening hours.

Not less than 28 days are given to the recipient to either respond or remedy the breach 
before the Notice takes effect. There is no right of appeal against a BCN and failing to 
comply with the requirements of a BCN is a criminal offence. 

Full and Temporary Stop Notices / Injunctions.

Where a breach of planning control is causing significant harm, the council has powers 
to take emergency action to compel it to stop. This action may be by way of a stop 
notice or injunction (Section 187B of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990) and 
dependant on the circumstances of the cases it may be temporary or permanent. 

This refers to Stop or Temporary Stop Notices (Section 183 and 184 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990). Emergency action is only taken in exceptional 
circumstances, where the risk of irretrievable harm is real or considered imminent.

A Temporary Stop Notice can be issued to support an Enforcement Notice and has the 
general effect of requiring a breach of planning control to cease almost immediately. 

Compensation can be payable if the Enforcement Notice to which the Stop Notice 
relates is quashed on appeal. A full Stop Notice is only used in exceptional 
circumstances. 

Section 215 Untidy Land Notice.

The Council can serve a Notice if land and/or buildings are in such a condition that it 
adversely affects the amenity of the area. The Notice requires the recipient to remedy 
the matter by undertaking the steps specified in the Notice. Such Notices are suitable to 
remedy the appearance of a site, i.e. clearing land of derelict cars or remedying untidy 
gardens of domestic properties. A failure to comply with a Section 215 Notice can result 
in a prosecution being brought in the Magistrates Court. 

Direct Action / Works in Default

25

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/section/187A
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/section/187A


Eastleigh Borough Council Local Enforcement Policy 14

Where the Council has issued a Statutory Notice, for example a Section 215 Notice for 
untidy land and those responsible for the breach have failed to comply; the Council has 
powers to carry out the works specified in the Notice. 

This is referred to as direct action, which is a useful tool that can resolve many different 
breaches of planning control and is generally most effective when used to remove 
unauthorised building operations and clearance of land. The Council has powers to 
recover any expenses incurred as a result of direct action and unpaid expenses can be 
either pursued as a debt in the County Court or registered as a land charge payable 
when the land/building is sold.

Cautions

In some instances the Council may have sufficient evidence to prosecute an individual 
or business for failing to comply with a Notice, if it is in the public interest to do so. 
When this applies, the Council may offer a simple caution to the offender(s).  A simple 
caution is not a criminal conviction rather an admission of guilt and remains on the 
Councils Cautions Register. If further similar offences are committed the Council may 
bring the caution to the attention of the court on conviction. This may result in a harsher 
sentence for any latter offences(s). 

If any individual or business refuses to accept a caution, the case will be considered for 
prosecution.

Planning Enforcement Order 

Where a person deliberately conceals unauthorised development, the deception may 
not come to light until after the time limits for taking enforcement action have expired. A 
Planning Enforcement Order enables an authority to take action in relation to an 
apparent breach of planning control notwithstanding that the time limits may have 
expired.

A local planning authority must have sufficient evidence of the apparent breach of 
planning control to justify applying for a planning enforcement order. A magistrates’ 
court may only make a planning enforcement order if it is satisfied on the balance of 
probabilities that the apparent breach of planning control (or any of the matters 
constituting that breach) has (to any extent) been deliberately concealed and that it is 
just to make the order having regard to all the circumstances. 

The effect of a planning enforcement order is that the local planning authority will be 
able to take enforcement action against the apparent breach of planning control or any 
of the matters constituting the apparent breach during the “enforcement year”. This 
means that once the “enforcement year” has begun, the local planning authority can at 
any time during that year, take enforcement action in respect of the apparent breach of 
planning control or any of the matters constituting that breach. The “enforcement year” 
does not begin until the end of 22 days starting with the day on which the court’s 
decision to make the order is given, or when any appeal against the order has been 
finally dismissed, or the appeal withdrawn.

A local planning authority may make an application even if the normal time limit for 
enforcement action has not expired. This is to allow for the possibility that evidence may 
come to light very close to the end of the normal time limits for taking enforcement 

26



Eastleigh Borough Council Local Enforcement Policy 15

action, when there may be insufficient time to draft and issue an enforcement notice, or 
where there may be doubt as to when the time limits actually expire. For example, 
where the date of substantial completion is not certain.

The local planning authority is not prevented from taking enforcement action once the 
enforcement year has ended provided that the normal time limits for enforcement action 
have not expired (section 171BA of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990).

Enforcement Register

The Council has a statutory duty to hold and maintain an enforcement register. This record 
details basic information in respect to what Notices have been served, but does not detail 
the investigation in depth. The Notices contained in the statutory enforcement register are:

 Enforcement Notices
 Breach of Condition Notices
 Full stop Notices
 Temporary Stop Notices

The enforcement register is a public record and can be viewed online at 
www.eastleigh.gov.uk.

16. Advertisements

How are unauthorised advertisements controlled?

There are several provisions under which unauthorised advertisements can be controlled by 
the Council. The principal mechanisms are in section 224 and section 225 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). The Council has specific powers to deal with:

 illegal hoardings;
 fly-posting;
 graffiti; and
 unauthorised advertisements alongside highways.

What action is possible in relation to display structures for illegal advertisements (i.e. 
hoardings)?

Section 225A of the 1990 Act (as amended) allows the Council to remove and dispose of any 
display structure – such as an advertisement hoarding – which, in their opinion, is used for the 
display of illegal advertisements. 

What action is possible against fly-posting?

The Council can take action against persistent unauthorised advertisements on ‘surfaces’. 
Action can be taken against those responsible for fly-posting, the beneficiaries of fly-posting 
and the owners of surfaces that are the subject of fly-posting. 

Section 225 of the 1990 Act enables the Council to remove or obliterate any placard or poster 
displayed illegally in their area. Before this power is exercised, 2 days advance written notice 
will be given to anyone who can be identified as the person responsible for the display.

27

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/section/124/enacted
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/section/224
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/section/225
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/section/225
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/advertisements#illegal-hoardings
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/advertisements#fly-posting
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/advertisements#graffiti
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/advertisements#unauthorised-advertisements-alongside-highways
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/section/127
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/section/225


Eastleigh Borough Council Local Enforcement Policy 16

What action is possible against graffiti?

The Council can take action against signs (such as graffiti) on surfaces which are readily 
accessible to the public, which is considered to be detrimental to the amenity of the area or 
offensive (section 225F).

The Council may serve a notice on the occupier of the premises requiring them to remove or 
obliterate the sign allowing at least 15 days to comply.  If there appears to be no occupier, the 
authority may fix the notice to the surface.

If action is not taken within the time specified, the local planning authority may take the action 
itself and recover its expenses from the person who should have done it. 

What action is possible against unauthorised advertisements alongside highways?

Section 132 of the Highways Act 1980 enables the Highway Authority to remove unlawful 
advertisements such as pictures or signs attached to any trees, highway signs, structures or 
works in the highway.

17. Investigation Standards

If you have a problem with the service provided please contact the investigating Officer in the 
first instance. If you remain dissatisfied with the service provided, the action taken or the lack 
of action, a formal complaint can be made in accordance with Eastleigh Borough Council’s 
Complaints Procedure. For details please visit our website: https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/the-
council/compliments,-complaints-comments.aspx. 

18. What can the public do to help? 

The assistance of the general public is crucial to planning enforcement. Due to the amount of 
development, both authorised and unauthorised, it would be impossible for the Borough 
Council to identify all possible breaches of planning control without an army of enforcement 
staff and at great expense. Many enforcement investigations commence following a complaint 
from the general public. It is helpful to also contact the Council when you have any new 
information.

28

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/section/127
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1980/66/section/132
https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/the-council/compliments,-complaints-comments.aspx
https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/the-council/compliments,-complaints-comments.aspx


POLICY AND PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY PANEL

22 October 2019

CABINET 
24 October 2019

COUNCIL 
7 November 2019

CLIMATE AND ENVIRONMENTAL EMERGENCY STRATEGY AND 
ACTION PLAN

Report of the Strategic Lead for Environment

Recommendation(s)

It is recommended that Policy & Performance Scrutiny Panel:

(1) note the contents of this report and make recommendations to Cabinet as 
appropriate.

It is recommended that Cabinet:

(2) note the content of this report and make recommendations to Council as 
appropriate

It is recommended that Council:

(3) Approve the Climate Change and Environmental Emergency Strategy 

(4) Approve the Climate Change and Environmental Emergency Action Plan

Summary

On the 18 July 2019 the Council unanimously declared a Climate Change and 
Environmental Emergency.  The approved motion was as follows:

Eastleigh Borough Council has a long history of tackling climate change; throughout the 
life of its current Climate Change Strategy the Council has installed thousands of kWh of 
renewable energy, supported residents and community groups to reduce their greenhouse 
gas emissions, lobbied Government and worked with partners to improve the resilience of 
the Borough.
 

29

Agenda Item 8



Eastleigh Borough Council

Council reaffirms its existing commitment by joining other local authorities and institutions 
in declaring a Climate Change and Environmental Emergency.  In doing so it agrees to:

a)   put in place measures to ensure that the Council’s own operations and functions 
achieve carbon neutrality by 2025,

b)   work with partners to aim for all projects and services delivered in the Borough to 
achieve carbon neutrality by 2030,

c)   ensure that the Council’s procurement policy recognises carbon neutrality as one of 
the primary considerations,

d)   recognise the urgency of action to mitigate and adapt to climate change in every 
decision taken by the Council,

e)   establish a cross-party working group to develop a plan for how the Borough of 
Eastleigh could achieve carbon neutrality by 2030, 
                 i.         to be chaired by the Cabinet Lead for the Environment and to include 
representatives from within the local community and businesses,
                 ii.        to report to Council within six months with a new Climate Change 
Strategy alongside immediate actions the Council will take to address this emergency,
                 iii.       to be followed by a detailed Action Plan to be developed to include 
reporting requirements and assessment of the associated resource implications; and

f)    include all of the recommendations above in a revised Climate Change Strategy to be 
completed and approved by Council in 2019/20.

This report sets out progress to date, baseline assessment and the strategy that the 
Council is taking to meet these targets.

Statutory Powers

Local Government Act 2001

Strategic Implications 

1. Climate change and negative environmental impacts are the biggest challenge 
facing the long-term future of residents and businesses of Eastleigh.  There is 
a direct link to all areas of the Corporate Plan.  The achievement of the Action 
Plan appended to this report will directly support the Council’s environmental 
objectives such as tackling congestion and creating an excellent environment 
for all.  Responding to the Climate Emergency is critical to secure the long-
term health and wellbeing for residents and the local economy. 

Introduction

2. Climate change is widely considered to be the greatest threat to global health 
in the 21st century.  In response to the October 2018 Intergovernmental Panel 
on Climate Change (IPCC) report stating that there was less than 12 years to 
respond to this emergency a cross-party motion was unanimously agreed at 
the 18 July 2019 Full Council to address the issue locally.  

30



Eastleigh Borough Council

3. The declaration sets out the Council’s aim to be carbon neutral by 2025 and to 
support communities and businesses across the Borough to achieve carbon 
neutrality by 2030.

4. This report sets out progress to date, the Council’s Strategy for responding to 
the Climate and Environmental Emergency alongside an interim action plan.

Progress to date

5. The Borough Council has a long history of tackling climate change and was 
awarded Beacon Status for its efforts in 2008. Building from this, over the last 
decade, the Council has installed thousands of kWh of renewable energy, 
generating over 300kWh per year, supported residents and community groups 
to reduce their greenhouse gas emissions, lobbied Government and worked 
with partners to improve the resilience of the Borough. During this time it has 
also supported hundreds of households to improve the efficiency of their 
homes and continued public engagement and with schools. The Council’s 
operational emissions have reduced by over 35% since 2008 and are ahead 
of the Government’s 2020 target. 

6. The Council’s 2011-2020 Climate Change Strategy expires at the end of 
December 2019; this new strategy builds upon the work over the last decade, 
taking into account new scientific information, policy developments and new 
technology to further respond to what has now become an emergency.

7. Since the unanimously approved Council motion, the cross party working 
Climate Change and Environmental Emergency Working Group (CCEEWG) 
has met five times, agreeing governance arrangements and the approach to 
be taken in developing a strategy and the approach to be taken by the 
Council.  The terms of reference for the Group have been included within 
amendments to the Constitution elsewhere on the 7 November 2019 Council 
agenda.

8. The Strategy has been drafted by the CCEEWG and is appended to this 
report for approval by councillors.

9. An initial Action Plan has been developed by CCEEWG which will be refined 
and developed over the period to 2030 to ensure carbon neutrality targets are 
achieved.

10. One of the elements of the Council motion was to ensure that consideration is 
given to climate and environmental issues during decision making.  All 
committee reports will in future contain a section titled “Climate Change and 
the Environment Implications”.  This will ensure that impacts on the 
environment are embedded within the way the Council works and takes 
decisions.  A training programme is under development for both staff and 
councillors to ensure that this is effective and will be fully implemented by April 
2020.

31



Eastleigh Borough Council

11. An internal working group has been setup, with staff from across all service 
areas. This has led a wide range of actions being put forward to respond to 
the emergency and the level of engagement is encouraging.

12. Detailed work has been carried out to assess the baseline level of emissions, 
both from Council operations and borough wide.  This is discussed in more 
detail in paragraphs 15 – 16.

13. The process of engaging with stakeholders, including residents and 
businesses, has begun, with further engagement planned throughout the term 
of the Strategy.  This includes business engagement events and also a 
resident survey.

14. A communications plan has been drafted to ensure that the Action Plan can 
be delivered and communicated to all and that the messaging will ensure 
maximum results for the achievement of the Strategy aims.

Baseline

15. The Council has a good record of tracking its own scope 1 & 2 emissions over 
several years and has been doing so as part of the previous climate change 
strategy and emission reduction targets.  The emissions stands at 1.8 ktCO2e 
for 2017/18 (latest compiled data).  Whilst this data is comprehensive it does 
not include the emissions from all areas of the Council’s activity and in 
particular the Council’s procurement activity.  An analysis of procurement 
activity has suggested that there is approximately a further 1.1 ktCO2e of 
emissions although this calculation is not as reliable.  In order to provide a 
baseline for the measurement of success it is proposed that the Council sets 
the operational target for 2025 to reduce or offset emissions by 2.9 ktCO2e. 

16. The Government produce area based CO2 emissions data. These figures 
include a broad range of data with the notable exceptions of aviation, 
shipping, military transport and lifestyle emissions.  To ensure that a prudent 
approach is taken, the Council has carried out an assessment of lifestyle and 
airport emissions and these are included within the area target.  This 
assessment has found that in order to reach Net Zero emissions by 2030 
there would need to be a borough wide reduction from 1046.1ktCO2e. This is 
based on 619.7ktCO2e Area, 378.4ktCO2e Lifestyle and 48ktCO2e Airport.  
Further detail as to how this data has been calculated can be found in 
appendix 4. 

Key Principles 

17. The following are the core principles that set out the Council’s approach to the 
climate change and Environmental strategy:

(a) All Council decisions will take into account the potential impact on 
climate change and the environment to achieve congruence with this 
strategy.

32



Eastleigh Borough Council

(b) The Council needs to take a strong approach to communications to 
increase awareness of the level of emergency;

(c) Wherever possible changes should be front loaded, the earlier 
reductions are made the better to meet global targets;

(d) As a last resort there will need to be offsetting to reach net zero 
emissions, local approaches which lead to local environmental 
improvements will be prioritised;

(e) There is a need to take the precautionary principle approach to ensure 
the Council does not do things that could have future negative 
consequences;

(f) Adaptation responses need to prioritise natural solutions first; such as 
trees for shading as opposed to physical structures;

(g) Whilst the upfront cost can be higher than “business as usual”, it is 
cheaper than the longer term costs of adapting at a later date.

Engagement

18. One of the core principles of the Strategy is that there needs to be “collective 
responsibility” for the Council, staff, residents and businesses to respond to 
the emergency.  Effective engagement is critical to ensure that stakeholders 
are engaged in the development of the strategy and the delivery of the action 
plan.

19. Since the declaration of an emergency, the Council has engaged with a wide 
range of residents, staff, businesses and key stakeholders.  Further 
engagement is planned over the coming months, both to further develop a 
more detailed action plan and to support residents and businesses to respond 
to the emergency. The engagement to date includes: 

(a) Residents survey, with over 320 responses from the public setting out 
a range of actions that they would like to see the Council carry out or 
provide 

(b) Business engagement: The Council facilitated a multi-local authority 
business engagement workshop at the Hilton Ageas, engaging with 
hundreds of business leaders.

(c) Key stakeholders: The Council has run two key stakeholder events, the 
first with a wide range of representatives from the community, lobby 
groups and businesses.  The second event focused on ecology and 
included representatives from key partners such as Natural England, 
Environment Agency, Hampshire and Isle of Wight Wildlife Trust. 

20. More than a third of area based emissions relate to residents “lifestyle” 
activities, therefore a critical element of the plan will be to develop detailed 
behavioural change programme.  Consideration is being made as to whether 

33



Eastleigh Borough Council

the Council should facilitate sessions such as ‘citizens’ assemblies’ to enable 
co-design of community responses.

Next Steps

21. The Council has committed to producing a more detailed action plan by the 
end of March 2020.  Further engagement with stakeholders will be carried out, 
alongside detailed business case development to ensure increase clarity over 
action delivery.

22. The working group will continue to meet regularly to oversee the development 
of the detailed action plan.  Once the action plan has been agreed, the 
working group will meet quarterly from March 2020 to oversee delivery of the 
actions.

Financial Implications

23. The activities set out in this report are either being carried out through existing 
allocated resources or require further investigation before funding is to be 
allocated.

24. It is clear that there will need to be significant investment for the Council to 
meet its operational Carbon Neutral target and put actions in place to support 
the borough towards reaching neutrality by 2030.  As the activities in the 
action plan are further developed detailed businesses cases, including 
sources of funding will need to be developed too. 

Risk Assessment

25. There are significant risks should the Council fail to mitigate climate change 
and ensure that the residents, businesses and the natural environment are 
able to adapt to the future climate.

Equality and Diversity Implications

26. The Equality Act is relevant to the decision in this report as the decision 
relates to eliminating discrimination, advancing equality of opportunity, or 
fostering good relations between different people in the following ways: The 
various impacts and responses to climate change are likely to 
disproportionally impact on people with protected characteristics.   

27. An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) has been carried out, attached as an 
appendix to the report.  In summary the EqIA shows that care will be needed 
to ensure that actions to mitigate climate change do not lead to discrimination 
and that opportunities to reduce existing inequality are maximised. As the 
action plan is further developed there will need to be further engagement with 
key stakeholders and representatives of protected groups to ensure that 
actions are compliant and where possible reduce existing inequality

34



Eastleigh Borough Council

28. Actions linked to the review of procurement policy and increased training will 
support the Council’s efforts to eliminate modern slavery.  All activities 
considered in the action plan will need to take Modern Slavery into account.

29. Expanding upon the core equality considerations, this report sets out an 
approach for the Council to respond to the challenge of climate and 
environmental degradation to support the wellbeing of future generations.

Climate Change and the Environment Implications

30. Climate Change and the environment is relevant to the decision in this report 
as the decision relates to activities that release Greenhouse Gases, resilience 
to environmental impacts or impacting on ecology in the following ways: The 
report is setting out the Councils Strategy for reducing it’s contribution to 
climate change and negative environmental issues, providing a programme of 
activity to Carbon Neutrality from Council and a framework for borough wide 
activity.  A Sustainable Development Goals Impact Assessment (SDGIA) has 
been carried out, attached as an appendix to the report.  In summary the 
SDGIA shows that the strategy and action plan is likely to have a positive 
impact across 16 of the17 of the Sustainable Development Goals.

Conclusion

31. The Climate and Environmental Emergency presents significant risk to 
residents and businesses, this report recommends a Strategy and Action Plan 
that will enable the Council to respond effectively to this emergency. 

JASON LIGHT
STRATEGIC PLANNING LEAD FOR ENVIRONMENT

Date: 14 October 2019 
Contact Officer: Jason Light
Tel No: 023 8068 8077
e-mail: jason.light@eastleigh.gov.uk
Appendices Attached: Seven: 

1) Council Motion, 2) Draft Strategy, 3) Interim Action 
plan, 4) Baseline assessment, 5) You Said we did, survey 
response, 6) Equality Impact Assessment, 7) 
Sustainability Impact Assessment 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information.

* List Background Papers or state None.

35



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1:  18 July 2019 Climate Change and Environmental Emergency 
Council Motion

Eastleigh Borough Council has a long history of tackling climate change; throughout 
the life of its current Climate Change Strategy the Council has installed thousands of 
kWh of renewable energy, supported residents and community groups to reduce 
their greenhouse gas emissions, lobbied Government and worked with partners to 
improve the resilience of the Borough.
 
Council reaffirms its existing commitment by joining other local authorities and 
institutions in declaring a Climate Change and Environmental Emergency.  In doing 
so it agrees to:

a)   put in place measures to ensure that the Council’s own operations and functions 
achieve carbon neutrality by 2025,

b)   work with partners to aim for all projects and services delivered in the Borough 
to achieve carbon neutrality by 2030,

c)   ensure that the Council’s procurement policy recognises carbon neutrality as 
one of the primary considerations,

d)   recognise the urgency of action to mitigate and adapt to climate change in every 
decision taken by the Council,

e)   establish a cross-party working group to develop a plan for how the Borough of 
Eastleigh could achieve carbon neutrality by 2030, 
                 i.         to be Chaired by the Cabinet Lead for the Environment and to 
include representatives from within the local community and businesses,
                 ii.        to report to Council within six months with a new Climate 
Change Strategy alongside immediate actions the Council will take to address 
this emergency,
                 iii.       to be followed by a detailed Action Plan to be developed to 
include reporting requirements and assessment of the associated resource 
implications; and

f)    include all of the recommendations above in a revised Climate Change Strategy 
to be completed and approved by Council in 2019/20.

This report sets out progress to date, baseline assessment and the strategy that the 
Council is taking to meet these targets.

37



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1
Date updated 12 October 2019

Climate change and Environment 
Emergency Strategy

2020 – 2030 

39



Page 2
Date updated 12 October 2019

Foreword

We recognise that climate change is a hugely important issue facing not just our residents, but also 
our environment, our wildlife and the planet.

It is clear that if action is taken now to address climate change and to halt damage to biodiversity, 
we can contribute significantly to reducing the impact of these issues locally and on a wider global 
level.

We care deeply about our environment and our wildlife and since the cross party motion at full 
council in July we have been working closely to develop this strategy and action plan. 

We must take every action possible to prevent the further effects of climate change before it is too 
late,  we believe that it is everyone’s responsibility to do whatever they can to reduce the effects of 
Climate Change and to help protect our precious planet, it’s environment and our wildlife for 
generations to come.

Any alternative is simply not an option.

Cllr Rupert Kyrle 
Liberal Democrat 
Cabinet member for 
Environment and Chair of 
the Climate change and 
Environmental Emergency 
Working Group

Cllr Gin Tidridge 
Independent Group 
member and Working 
Group Member 

Cllr Margaret Atkinson 
Conservative Group 
Leader and Working 
Group Member

40



Page 3
Date updated 12 October 2019

Introduction

The Borough Council has a long history of tackling Climate change including being 
awarded Beacon Status for its efforts in 2008. The Council’s 2011-2020 Climate 
Change Strategy expires at the end of December 2019; this new strategy builds 
upon the work over the last decade, taking into account new scientific information, 
policy developments and new technology to further respond to what has now 
become an emergency. On the 18 July 2019 the Council unanimously declared a 
Climate Change and Environmental Emergency.  The approved motion was as 
follows:

Eastleigh Borough Council has a long history of tackling climate change; throughout 
the life of its current Climate Change Strategy the Council has installed thousands of 
kWh of renewable energy, supported residents and community groups to reduce 
their greenhouse gas emissions, lobbied Government and worked with partners to 
improve the resilience of the Borough.
 
Council reaffirmed its existing commitment by joining other local authorities and 
institutions in declaring a Climate Change and Environmental Emergency.  In doing 
so it agrees to:

a)   put in place measures to ensure that the Council’s own operations and functions 
achieve carbon neutrality by 2025,

b)   work with partners to aim for all projects and services delivered in the Borough 
to achieve carbon neutrality by 2030,

c)   ensure that the Council’s procurement policy recognises carbon neutrality as 
one of the primary considerations,

d)   recognise the urgency of action to mitigate and adapt to climate change in every 
decision taken by the Council,

e)   establish a cross-party working group to develop a plan for how the Borough of 
Eastleigh could achieve carbon neutrality by 2030, 
                 i.         to be Chaired by the Cabinet Lead for the Environment and to 
include representatives from within the local community and businesses,
                 ii.        to report to Council within six months with a new Climate 
Change Strategy alongside immediate actions the Council will take to address 
this emergency,
                 iii.       to be followed by a detailed Action Plan to be developed to 
include reporting requirements and assessment of the associated resource 
implications; and

f)   include all of the recommendations above in a revised Climate Change Strategy 
to be completed and approved by Council in 2019/20.

This report sets out progress to date, baseline assessment and the strategy that the 
Council is taking to meet these targets.

41



Page 4
Date updated 12 October 2019

Climate Emergency

Climate change is likely to have significant impacts on the borough, including:

 An increase in extent, depth and frequency of flooding from surface water, 
rivers and the sea due to sea level rise, storm surges and increasing intensity 
of rainfall. Although the trend is for drier summers, intense storms will also 
increase.

 Hotter summers will also lead to increased heat stress, particularly on 
vulnerable members of the community such as the elderly and on the 
environment as a whole.  With particular reference to stress on our water 
supply, tree and wildlife survival.

The UK Climate Change Act 2008 sets a statutory target to reduce UK greenhouse 
gas emissions by 80% from 1990 by 2050. In May 2019 the UK Committee on 
Climate Change recommended that the UK Government increase the statutory target 
to Net-Zero greenhouse gas emissions by 2050. The Government has now adopted 
this target. 

In parallel, the UK Climate Change Act established the National Adaptation 
Programme. The corresponding UK Climate Change Risk Assessment identifies 6 
priority risk areas: flooding, high temperatures, water supply shortages, natural 
capital, food production; and pest and diseases.

Environmental Decline

Climate change and other human activity is having a significant impact on the nature 
and the environment. An October 2019 State of Nature Report starkly set out the 
need for urgency to deal with environmental decline in the UK. Including the 
following headline figures:

 15 per cent of species under threat of extinction and 2 per cent of species 
have already gone for good

 Average abundance of wildlife has fallen by 13 per cent with the steepest 
losses in the last ten years 

 41 per cent of UK species studied have fallen and 133 species have already 
been lost from our shores 

 Butterflies and moths, down 17 per cent and 25 per cent respectively. 
Numbers of high brown fritillary and grayling butterflies, have fallen by more 
than three quarters 

 The average amount of mammals has fallen by 26 per cent and the wild cat 
and greater mouse-eared bat are almost extinct

42



Page 5
Date updated 12 October 2019

Key Principles 

The following are the core principles that set out the Councils approach to the 
climate change and Environmental Emergency, shaping actions to be taken forward.

All Council decisions will take into account the potential impact on Climate 
Change and the environment to achieve congruence with this strategy.

In order to appropriately respond to this emergency it is critical that all Council 
decisions take into account and respond to the potential impact that they will have on 
climate change and the environment. This will be embedded in decision making 
through updates to templates, policy, guidelines alongside a communications 
campaign and additional training. Through procurement and partnership this 
responsibility will be extended to suppliers and partners engaged in activities with the 
Council.

Need to take a prudent, proportionate and replicable approach to setting the 
baseline and understanding the impact of activities.

The Council has a good record of tracking its fleet and energy emissions (otherwise 
known as Scope 1 & 2) over several years and has been doing so as part of the 
previous climate change strategy and emission reduction targets. The emissions 
stands at 1.8 ktCO2e (All Greenhouse Gas emissions converted into Kiloton 
equivalent of Carbon Dioxide) for 2017/18 (latest compiled data). Whilst this data is 
comprehensive it does not include the emissions from all areas of the Council’s 
activity and in particular the Council’s procurement activity.  An analysis of 
procurement activity has suggested that there is approximately a further 1.1 ktCO2e 

43



Page 6
Date updated 12 October 2019

of emissions although this calculation is not as reliable.  In order to provide a 
baseline for the measurement of success it is proposed that the Council sets the 
operational target for 2025 to reduce or offset emissions by 2.9 ktCO2e. 

The Government produce area based CO2 emissions data.  These figures include a 
broad range of data with the notable exceptions of aviation, shipping, military 
transport and lifestyle emissions.  To ensure that a prudent approach is taken, the 
Council has carried out an assessment of lifestyle and airport emissions and these 
are included within the area target.  This assessment has found that in order to reach 
Net Zero emissions by 2030 there would need to be a borough wide reduction from 
1046.1ktCO2e. This is based on 619.7ktCO2e Area, 378.4ktCO2e Lifestyle and 
48ktCO2e Airport.

N.B Graph above, Solid segments are national data, hatched segments are 
estimated extrapolations from other national data sets. 

It is also critical that all forms of emissions are included and clearly communicated to 
residents and businesses leaders to ensure that they understand the various 
contributions and the required level of collective responsibility.

Need to take the precautionary principle approach

History is littered with examples of often well-meaning decisions made with 
environmentally damaging consequences, such as the rise in use of CFCs and the 
promotion of diesel vehicles increasing local air quality issues. Therefore it is critical 

44



Page 7
Date updated 12 October 2019

that decisions are made with a high degree of certainly over the full consequences. 
This approach is best defined as following the precautionary principle, which is 
enshrined in law. 

Where ever possible changes should be front loaded

The earlier reductions are made the better that will be for the environment and the 
local community. Manchester University and the Tyndall Centre produced a tool 
allowing Local Authorities to understand the area wide CO2e reductions required to 
meet the Paris Accord CO2e limit. The model which utilises UK government area 
data to calculate a CO2e “Budget” for the area indicates that at current rate of 
emissions, the entire budget to 2100 would be used up by 2027. 

An example of this approach could be for the Council to consider offsetting its 
operational emissions from year one, whilst activities are carried out to reduce 
emissions over time.

As a last resort there will need to be offsetting to reach Net Zero Emissions, 
local approaches which lead to local environmental improvements will be 
prioritised. 

It will not be possible for Council and borough wide activities to be carried out without 
causing some CO2e emissions. The Council will follow the mitigation hierarchy, with 
activities that avoid, prioritised over mitigation, restoration and then offsetting. As a 
last resort offsetting will need to be included in the approach. Local borough based 
offsetting activities will be prioritised; this will increase the benefit to local residents 
and wildlife. 

45



Page 8
Date updated 12 October 2019

Adaptation Reponses need to take a Natural solutions first approach

In order to respond to the Environmental Emergency, in particular species decline 
and local pollution nature must be a key part of climate mitigation and adaptation 
strategies. 

The Council needs to take a stronger approach to communications

A key theme throughout the consultation of this this strategy, is that the Council 
needs to prompt urgent responses by clearly setting out the brevity of the climate 
and environmental emergency. The Council will carefully consider language (such as 
using Climate Emergency/Breakdown as oppose to Climate Change). Alongside 
highlighting positive actions, the communication programme will need to support 
residents and businesses to fully understand that risks faced due to climate change. 

46



Page 9
Date updated 12 October 2019

In 2017 the Climate Change Committee reported that policies introduced internally 
by governments indicated that we are on a pathway to global temperature rise of 
between 3.3-3.9oC by the 2050’s. In 2019 the Environment Agency updated its 
advice that decision makers should plan for 4oC warming.

Resources

The upfront cost is higher than Business as Usual, but the longer term costs 
of adapting later are higher so it is cheaper to mitigate in the shorter term.

The 2008 Stern Review clearly set out the business case for urgent action on climate 
change both to mitigate and carry out activities to ensure physical adaptations are 
made to avoid much higher costs in the longer term. A whole life cost assessment 
will need to be made for decisions, particularly procurement to ensure that future 
savings are factored in.

Business cases will be developed for all activities within the action plan.  These will 
be prioritised by the Working Group and funding sought, where necessary in order to 
deliver on the strategy within agreed timescales. 

Governance

This strategy will be overseen by a Climate Change and Environment Working 
Group. This will act as the main Programme Board for activities across the 
organisation. The working group will meet quarterly to review the process of actions. 

47



This page is intentionally left blank



Date updated 12 October 2019 Page 1

Climate Change and Environmental Emergency Interim Action Plan - November 2019

Activities relating to Council Operations

No Theme Activity Action Impact Timescale
1 Communicati

ons
Behavioural 
Change 
Programme

Launch of a climate/environmental behavioural change 
programme for staff.

Support wider Council improvements. Programme to Launch 
in January 2020.

2 Ecology Carbon 
Sequestration 
Schemes

Work in partnership to develop proposals for large 
scale habitat creation projects and funding to deliver 
scheme that can sequester carbon and deal with 
Nitrate issues. 

Localised Carbon offsetting, habitat creation 
and reducing localised Nitrate issues.

First proposals by 
March 2020.

3 Ecology Monitoring 
ecological 
mitigation 
actions.

Review funding made available through planning 
conditions, including ensuring that it can allow the 
commissioning of independent monitoring of planning 
applications as a condition of approval.

To assess the impact of adopted mitigation 
measures on biodiversity through independent 
monitoring.

Review to be completed 
by March 2020.

4 Ecology Trees Development of a strategy to ensure that there is 
effective protection of existing trees through the use of 
TPO’s and effective enforcement, tree planting/ 
replacement programme including maintenance regime 
for tree stock across the borough. 

A robust tree planting programme will support 
habitat creation and offsetting.

By March 2020.

5 Ecology Trees Exploring the development of locally grown trees and 
plant stock with consideration of a peat free Council 
tree and plant stock nursery.

Early planting of trees reducing the cost and 
carbon footprint importing mature trees to 
improve coverage across the borough.

Business case 
developed by 
September 2020.

6 Ecology Wildflowers Introduction of more wildflower areas across the 
borough, including mixture between ornamental/native 
wildflowers and areas which are left with minimal 
maintenance to increase bio-diversity.

Reduction in operational emissions and 
increased areas for bio diversity.

Plan developed by April 
2020.

7 Energy Additional 
Renewables

Review previous Solar businesses cases, including the 
potential for installing large scale schemes

Increased local renewables will reduce demand 
for Fossil fuel power.

Business cases currently 
under review, 
completion by March 
2020.

8 Energy Asset 
Management

Develop plan for improving energy efficiency and 
sustainability for operational buildings.   

Improve environmental performance 
throughout whole life cycle of operational 
buildings

Report by end April 
2020.

49



Date updated 12 October 2019 Page 2

9 Energy Green Energy 
Supply

All Council purchases of electricity will be Green. Utilising purchasing power to shift the UK 
power supply to renewable energy, reducing 
GHG emissions nationally.

100% Green Electricity 
by April 2020.

10 Energy Green Gas 
Supply

Investigate the potential for the Council to move to a 
Green gas supplier.

Utilising purchasing power to shift the UK 
power supply to renewable energy, reducing 
GHG emissions nationally.

Investigation by April 
2020

11 Offsetting CarbonFREE Investigate the use of a Carbon Trust accredited 
scheme to immediately offset the Councils emissions. 
Then develop a plan to locally offset the Council’s 
operational and outsourced emissions, including from 
energy consumption and Council development projects

Ensure that Council responds to its emissions 
whilst work is carried out to reduce the impact 
of operations.

Initial offsetting 
proposal by November 
2019, local scheme 
developed by 
September 2020.

12 Procurement Review existing 
procurement

Detailed appraisal of the Council’s procurement to 
identify opportunities to reduce the impact of spend

Council procurement is estimated to equate to 
a third of the Councils emissions. 

Updated Procurement 
Policy and guidance by 
April 2020.

13 Resources/St
reetscene

Grey water for 
road sweepers

Investigating potential to move to grey water 
harvesting for use in mechanical and compact sweepers

Reduction in operational emissions, 
improvement in air quality and reduction in 
water consumption

Investigation completed 
by June 2020.

14 Streetscene Hand Held 
Electrical 
Equipment

All hand held petrol driven Streetscene equipment will 
transition to Electric, 50 separate items of equipment 
by 2021. 

Reduction in GHG emissions and decrease in 
local air pollution.

By end 2021

15 Training Staff training 
programme

Development and delivery of a comprehensive training 
programme to support all staff and Councillors to 
embed Climate and Environmental considerations into 
all decisions.

Improved decision making will lead to positive 
impacts across the board.

Programme to begin in 
December 2019.

16 Transport Council Fleet Develop an action plan to transition the Streetscene 
fleet to Electric or Ultra Low Emission Vehicles (ULEV) 
by 2025.  

Moving to electric fleet will contribute to 
improvement in local air quality issues and 
lower operational and area wide emissions.

Plan by April 2020.

17 Waste Anaerobic 
Digestion

Eastleigh is the only Council in Hampshire to collect 
food waste; a business proposal will be developed for 
building an anaerobic digestion facility within the 
borough.

This activity will reduce council vehicle 
movements and facilitate further uptake of 
food waste across Hampshire.

Study to be completed 
by June 2020.  

18 Waste Facilities 
Management

Develop a waste management plan for the Council’s 
estate.

Waste reduction, recycling and responsible 
waste management.

Plan completed by June 
2020.

50



Date updated 12 October 2019 Page 351



Date updated 12 October 2019 Page 4

Activities relating to the borough wide targets

No Theme Activity Action Impact Timescale
19 Communications Business 

engagement 
programme

Development of a climate / environmental behavioural 
change programme for businesses and local employees

Lowering business emissions from the 
business sector.

Programme to Launch 
in September 2020.

20 Communications Public Reward 
scheme

Working with Southern Water to launch a pilot of the 
Green Redeem, positive environmental behaviour 
reward scheme

Reduction in water consumption, alongside 
other positive environmental behaviour.

Pilot area to launch by 
January 2020.

21 Communications Residents 
engagement

Launch of a climate/environmental behavioural change 
programme for residents with the community 
engagement. 

Lowering lifestyle emissions across the 
borough.

Programme to Launch 
in January 2020.

22 Communications Partner 
organisation 
engagement

Working with partners, including parish, county and 
neighbouring councils, to encourage positive 
environmental behaviour.

To support the ambitions of Eastleigh Borough 
Council.

Programme to Launch 
in June 2020.

23 Energy Green Lease 
Clauses

Development and phasing in Green Clauses into the 
Councils rental leases.

Improve environmental performance of 
buildings throughout whole life cycle of 
buildings by working collaboratively with 
occupiers/businesses

New Clauses to begin 
introduction by April 
2020.

24 Ecology Establish 
ecological 
baseline

In partnership with key bodies, establish an ecological 
baseline for the borough.

Enable the Council to measure the impact of 
activities.

By mid 2020.

25 Ecology Produce a 
Biodiversity 
Strategy and 
Action Plan

Creation of a comprehensive Biodiversity strategy and 
action plan which will identify responses to species at 
risk.  This will supersede the less broad Biodiversity 
Action plan and sit alongside the other Climate and 
Environmental sub strategies.

Strategy and Plan will provide a coherent long-
term response to environmental degradation. 

Consultation by end 
2020.

26 Environmental Pollution 
Strategy

Development of a Pollution Strategy, including 
Noise/Nuisance, Dust, land and overarching the Air 
Quality plan which will be completed by March 2020. 

Reduction in local pollution issues. Strategy by September 
2020.

27 Offsetting Relaunch 
CarbonFREE

Relaunch of the Councils CarbonFREE programme to 
facilitate Businesses and Residents to locally offset their 
emissions

Local offsetting programme will support 
further mitigation and adaptation aims.

By September 2020.

28 Planning Supplementary 
Planning 

Developing Council Supplementary Policy Documents 
(SPD)s relating to biodiversity and environment net 

Policies will support Environmental and 
Climate mitigation/adaptation improvements.

First policies by mid 
2020.

52



Date updated 12 October 2019 Page 5

Policies gain,  Efficiency of development sites, Climate 
Adaptation and strengthening the councils position on 
tree replacement planting including numbers, species 
and sizes of trees

29 Resilience Assessment of 
resilience to 
climate impacts

Carry out a Social Justice and Climate Change 
assessment of the borough to increase the level of 
understanding of residents’ exposure and potential 
responses to future climate impacts.

Improved resilience to future climate impacts. Assessment carried 
out by end September 
2020.

30 Transport Business 
transport

Develop a plan to increase take-up of zero carbon “last 
mile” sustainable delivery services used by local 
businesses. Increasing the number of final deliveries 
from distribution centres to businesses and from 
businesses to local customers that are made by zero 
emission transport.

Work with local transport organisation to 
expand scheme into Eastleigh to reduce local 
fuel consumption and improve air quality.

Plan by September 
2020.

31 Transport Electric Vehicle 
Charging

Install further public electric vehicle charging points in 
the borough.

Supporting businesses and residents to move 
to electric vehicles will lead to a reduction in 
local and national pollution.

The first rapid charger 
will be installed by 
April 2020.

32 Transport Sustainable 
Transport 
Strategy

Development of a Sustainable Transport Strategy to 
include the Council’s approach for Public Transport, 
Travel Plans, Commercial Fleet, Taxis, Low Emission 
vehicles, Cycling and Walking, which will then inform 
the action plan.

To reduce fuel consumption and air quality 
issues in the area, through modal shift to 
more sustainable travel.

Cycling and Walking 
element of the 
strategy completed by 
June 2020. Overall 
strategy by June 2021.

33 Waste Commercial 
Food Waste 
Collections

Council to assess the potential and develop a plan to 
introduce food waste collections for businesses in the 
borough

Reduction of waste to incineration, creation of 
green gas from waste.

Plan development 
during 20/21.

34 Waste Waste Strategy Develop a strategy to reduce waste and improve 
recycling throughout the Borough.  To include domestic 
and commercial activities.

Waste reduction, recycling and responsible 
waste management.

By August 2020.

53



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Methodology and baseline assessment of Greenhouse Gases attributed to 
Council Operations and the wider borough of Eastleigh

This document is intended as a technical background report setting out the 
methodology and subsequent baseline chosen to support the Councils response to 
the Climate Change and Environmental Emergency. 

Whilst most of the data and numbers around CO2 emissions in this document are 
based on sound and reliable sources, it has been necessary to use some that it is 
harder to validate. This data and the subsequent extrapolations should be viewed 
with some caution.

CO2 Emissions Baseline

For the purposes of reducing CO2 in the Eastleigh Borough Council strategy, the 
baseline CO2 emissions are essentially split into two broad areas:

 Emissions related to the operations of Eastleigh Borough Council’s own 
operations

 Emissions for the area of Eastleigh Borough as a whole

Emissions from the Council’s Own Operations

The Council has a good record of tracking its own emissions over several years and 
has been doing so as part of the previous strategy and emission reduction targets. 
This stands at 1.8 ktCO2e for 2017/181. The summary is included in Table 1 (see 
Appendix 1). Whilst this is pretty comprehensive it does not include the emissions 
from some of the other areas of the council’s activity and in particular its 
procurement activity. An analysis of procurement activity by council officers has 
shown that there is approximately a further 1.1 ktCO2 that could be attributed to this 
area, but further work is required to understand the accuracy of the emissions from 
procurement activity, due to the method of calculation.

Emissions for the whole borough of Eastleigh

Government via the National Atmospheric Emissions Inventory compiles data for 
CO2 emissions. This includes a broad range of data with the notable exceptions of 
aviation, shipping and military transport, as there is no obvious way to allocate these 
to local areas. Given the complexity of the data sets it takes some time to compile 
and therefore there is always a time lag to the most recent set of data, currently this 
is for 2017.

There are two subsets of this data which are of particular interest. These are a full 
data set and a more refined set which is those emissions considered to be under the 
influence of actions by a local authority. The latter further excludes data from large 
industrial processes (of which there are currently none in Eastleigh anyway), 
motorways, diesel rail transport and LULUCF (Land Use, Land Use Change and 

1 Due to the complicated nature of calculating CO2 emissions at large scale the last full year currently 
available for comparison is 2017, therefore for comparison in this document this years emissions will 
be used across all measurements.

55



Forestry), both are split into three broad categories of Industrial & Commercial, 
Transport and Residential.

Table 2 includes the most recent set of the “full” and “local authority” data sets. 

Table 2: National Published CO2 Emissions Data for Eastleigh Borough, 2017

ktCO2
Industrial & 
Commercial

Transport Residential Total

Full Data Set 138.3 305.6 175.8 619.7
LA Data Set 138.0 115.4 175.8 429.2
Difference 0.3 190.2 0.00 190.5

As with the Council’s own emissions there are still some notable omissions. This 
data set does not reflect those emissions that would be regarded as lifestyle choices 
e.g. diet, retail consumption patterns etc, in a manner that can be directly attributed 
to Eastleigh Borough.

The average person’s carbon footprint in the UK is around 5.8 tonnes per year2. Of 
this around half is related to domestic fuels, and transport, the remainder is related to 
other lifestyle choices. Therefore, if you were to take this average at face value, 
almost-half3 is included in the national data, but the remainder isn’t directly counted. 
For Eastleigh with a current population of 130,4984 individuals this represents in the 
region of a further 378 ktCO2.

This is further complicated by the fact that some of this lifestyle choice is accounted 
for elsewhere in the carbon calculations of other areas, as production of goods etc. 
will appear in their industrial and commercial calculations.

Data which is specifically omitted from the national data includes aviation, shipping 
and military transport. For Eastleigh, shipping and military transport are of minimal 
direct impact however aviation from Southampton International Airport is not 
included.

In 2011 it was calculated that Southampton Airport’s emissions from flights5 were 
around 42 ktCO2 (this source has not been updated more recently). By adjusting for 
growth in passenger numbers6 this would now be around 48 ktCO2 in 2017 / 18. 
Note: By adjusting this for number of flights7 this would show a decrease in total 
emissions to around 36 ktCO2.

2 http://www.globalcarbonatlas.org/en/CO2-emissions 
3 Aviation is included in the average CO2 footprint but excluded from the national data
4 https://www.hants.gov.uk/landplanningandenvironment/facts-figures/population/estimates-forecasts
5 http://www.awsw.co.uk/allco2/SOU_co2.html
6 2011 passenger numbers were 1,743,676 in 2017 and 2018 they were reported to be over 2 million - 
https://www.southamptonairport.com/news/news-press/southampton-airport-once-again-tops-two-
million-passengers/
7 2011 flights 45, 700, 2018 flights 39,651 – data from Civil Aviation Authority

56

http://www.globalcarbonatlas.org/en/CO2-emissions
https://www.hants.gov.uk/landplanningandenvironment/facts-figures/population/estimates-forecasts
http://www.awsw.co.uk/allco2/SOU_co2.html
https://www.southamptonairport.com/news/news-press/southampton-airport-once-again-tops-two-million-passengers/
https://www.southamptonairport.com/news/news-press/southampton-airport-once-again-tops-two-million-passengers/


There are some obvious caveats that must come with calculating these figures for 
aviation.

 Source data has not been verified.
 The increase in emissions does not factor in changes to aircraft which will 

have improved fuel efficiency and have lowered emissions during that period.
 Not all the passengers travelling are residents of the borough, but as with 

other travel data sets this is also a factor i.e. cars driving through the borough 
are not necessarily driven by residents of it.

 Lifestyle data (see above) includes an average calculation for aviation, and 
therefore there is potentially some double counting of emissions where 
passengers are residents of Eastleigh who are flying from the airport but 
conversely the lifestyle calculation considers all flights regardless of origin. 

 The 2011 figures and proxy 2017 / 18 figures do not include other flights e.g. 
freight, so the number may be higher.

It is also worthy of noting that the airport has made significant carbon savings from 
its own operations in recent years and these will be reflected in the industrial figures 
at a point in the future, when that data becomes available.

Grand Total

Table 3 gives the summary of these 
figures, and the caveats over data, and 
proxy calculations should be noted. Many 
of these emissions sources, particularly the 
lifestyle areas are beyond the direct control 
of the Borough Council, but there is some 
anecdotal evidence that residents would 
welcome help and support in lowering their 
emissions – they are willing to try, they just 
don’t know how. To what extent this would 
extend to changing their behaviour patterns 
and the way they live is unclear, but worthy 
of further work / research to understand.

Table 3: Grand Total of Eastleigh Borough Area Emissions

Data Set ktCO2
National Data Set 619.7
Lifestyle Emissions 378.4
Airport 48.0 (36)
Total 1046.1 (1034.1)

57



Appendix 1: Eastleigh Borough Council Greenhouse Gas Reporting
EBC Green House Gas Reporting

Weather Corrected (WC) No

Year 2007/08 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19
tCO2e tCO2e tCO2e tCO2e tCO2e tCO2e tCO2e tCO2e tCO2e tCO2e tCO2e tCO2e

Scope 1 Gas 989.36 1084.11 916.80 935.16 794.47 866.07 615.17 660.08 687.53 674.13 572.78 672.07
Oil 28.66 37.92 30.67 28.98 10.47 19.85 11.42 5.08 3.80 3.80 3.80 3.80
Fuel 1017.49 1025.84 1083.13 1024.01 1021.25 1012.76 1043.30 1061.09 1004.54 1111.70 1002.13 1098.26
Total 2035.50 2147.87 2030.59 1988.15 1826.19 1898.67 1669.89 1726.25 1695.87 1789.64 1578.71 1774.14

Scope 2 Electricity 741.74 736.54 675.39 702.21 657.02 821.22 901.01 984.26 880.35 782.82 639.50 452.77
Street Lighting (HCC) 43.38 27.73 21.84 18.98 15.02
Gas (Heat) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Water 10.88 11.51 3.35 11.07 11.46 11.84 11.95 16.22 15.42 14.56 15.56 16.43
Total 752.63 748.06 678.75 713.28 668.48 833.06 912.96 1043.86 923.50 819.22 674.05 484.22

Scope 3 Business Travel 104.26 90.35 85.34 71.28 73.28 65.45 57.36 52.25 45.88 39.02 19.76 34.65
Total 104.26 90.35 85.34 71.28 73.28 65.45 57.36 52.25 45.88 39.02 19.76 34.65

Total Gross emissions 2892.39 2986.28 2794.68 2772.71 2567.95 2797.18 2640.20 2822.37 2665.25 2647.88 2272.53 2293.00
Yearly Change 3.25% -6.42% -0.79% -7.38% 8.93% -5.61% 6.90% -5.57% -0.65% -14.18% 0.90%
Against Base Year 3.25% -3.38% -4.14% -11.22% -3.29% -8.72% -2.42% -7.85% -8.45% -21.43% -20.72%

Credits Green Tariff (382.57) (422.55) (527.58) (595.87) (506.39) (468.67) (389.98) (271.70)
PV Export Only (19.88) (42.72) (61.94) (99.90) (92.65) (80.77) (60.29) (60.88)
Total (402.46) (465.26) (589.52) (695.78) (599.04) (549.44) (450.27) (332.58)

Total Net emissions 2892.39 2986.28 2794.68 2772.71 2165.50 2331.92 2050.68 2126.59 2066.21 2098.44 1822.25 1960.42
Yearly Change 3.25% -6.42% -0.79% -21.90% 7.69% -12.06% 3.70% -2.84% 1.56% -13.16% 7.58%
Against Base Year 3.25% -3.38% -4.14% -25.13% -19.38% -29.10% -26.48% -28.56% -27.45% -37.00% -32.22%

Out of Scope Biomass 3.30 13.19 11.51 8.67 4.45 14.72 9.81
Total 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 3.30 13.19 11.51 8.67 4.45 14.72 9.81

Intensity FT Equivalent Employees 483 458 473 448 425 444
tCO2e per FTE 4.25 4.64 4.37 4.68 4.29 4.42

Income £m 66.30 73.20 69.00 70.20 68.30 59.92 85.91 69.00
tCO2e per £m income 43.63 31.86 29.72 30.29 30.25 35.02 21.21 28.41

58



Table 1: Eastleigh Borough Council CO2 Emissions from its own operations

59



T
his page is intentionally left blank



You said we did

Introduction

Engagement and co-design between the Council, residents and local businesses is 
critical for there to be an effective collective response to the Climate and 
Environmental Emergency. This document sets out the engagement approach to 
date, summarises responses received and identifies where the council has been 
able to swiftly develop a response.

At the beginning of September a simple resident’s survey was circulated through 
Council channels, receiving over 300 responses. In addition to this a two key 
stakeholder events have been held and the Council engaged with hundreds of 
businesses at an event in October. 

This document only highlights linkages between engagement to-date and the initial 
Interim Action plan. Work is still being carried out to consider proposals relating to all 
suggestions put forward. As this work is under development the Council is not 
currently in a position to include them all in the initial plan, they are likely to feature in 
the more detailed plan to be produced in March 2020. 

Summary of Residents Responses

Theme
Number of 
comments Council response through actions In the plan

Biodiversity   

Advice 3 19,21 & 22 Communications
Policy 5 25 Strategy & 28 Planning policies

Rewilding 5 25 Strategy & 28 Planning policies

Trees 19
5,6  Trees, 11 Offsetting, 25 Strategy & 28 
Planning policies

Wild Flowers 10
6 Wildflowers, 25 Strategy & 28 Planning 
policies

Wildlife 19

2 Carbon Sequestration, 5,6  Trees, 6 
Wildflowers, 11 Offsetting, 25 Strategy & 28 
Planning policies

Climate Change   
Education 5 19,21 & 22 Communications

Engagement 4 19,21 & 22 Communications

Help 1 19,21 & 22 Communications & 29 Resilience
Other 10 No Current Response
Policy 4 12 Procurement & Strategy

Population 1 No Current Response

61



Council   
Asset 1 8 Asset Management

Finance 1 No Current Response

Fuel 1 13,14 Streetscene & 16 Council Fleet
Green Supply 1 9, 10 Green Energy Supply

Reduction 4 8 Asset Management
Renewables 1 7 Additional Renewables

Energy   
Green Supply 6 9, 10 Green Energy Supply

Insulation 3 11 Offsetting
Policy 1 12 Procurement & Strategy

Reduction 4 28 Supplementary Planning Policies

Renewables 13
7 Additional Renewables & 29 Supplementary 
Planning Policies

Social Housing 1 28 Supplementary Planning Policies
Food   

Allotments 9 No Current Response
Local Shops 4 No Current Response

Other 2 No Current Response

Vegetable Diet 9 21 Residents Engagement

General   
Advice 42 19,21 & 22 Communications

Comment 3 19,21 & 22 Communications
Education 1 19,21 & 22 Communications
Incentives 61 20 Public Reward Scheme

Other 1 19,21 & 22 Communications

Partners 1 12 Procurement & 22 Partner Engagement 
Penalties 1 No Current Response

People 1 19,21 & 22 Communications
Research 1 24, 25 Ecology & 29 Resilience

Planning   

Cycling & Walking 1
28 Supplementary Planning Policies & 32 
Sustainable Transport Policy

Energy 1 28 Supplementary Planning Policies
Local Plan 39 28 Supplementary Planning Policies

Policy 20 28 Supplementary Planning Policies

62



Transport 1
28 Supplementary Planning Policies & 32 
Sustainable Transport Policy

Pollution   

Air Pollution 4
19,21 & 22 Communications & 27 Pollution 
Strategy

Fly-Tipping 4
19,21 & 22 Communications & 27 Pollution 
Strategy

Litter 10
19,21 & 22 Communications & 34 Waste 
Strategy

Noise 1
19,21 & 22 Communications & 27 Pollution 
Strategy

Wood Fires 2
19,21 & 22 Communications & 27 Pollution 
Strategy

Transport   

Air Travel 14
21 Residents Engagement & 32 Sustainable 
Transport Policy

Business 1
30 Business Transport, 32 Sustainable 
Transport Policy

Car Share 1
21 Residents Engagement & 32 Sustainable 
Transport Policy

Congestion Charge 1 32 Sustainable Transport Policy

Cycling & Walking 54
21 Residents Engagement & 32 Sustainable 
Transport Policy

eBikes 1
21 Residents Engagement & 32 Sustainable 
Transport Policy

EVs 39 31 EV Charging
Park and ride 1 No Current Response

Parking 3 No Current Response

Public Transport 76
21 Residents Engagement & 32 Sustainable 
Transport Policy

Roads 7
21 Residents Engagement & 32 Sustainable 
Transport Policy

Traffic 11
21 Residents Engagement & 32 Sustainable 
Transport Policy

Waste & Recycling   

Education 15 21 Residents Engagement & 34 Waste Strategy
Policy 1 34 Waste Strategy

Prevention 31 21 Residents Engagement 7 34 Waste Strategy

Recycling 111 22 Residents Engagement 7 34 Waste Strategy
Water   

Reduction 4 20 Public Reward Scheme

63



64



Summary of Business Responses

Theme
Number of 
comments Council response through actions In the plan

Biodiversity   

Trees 2
5,6  Trees, 11 Offsetting, 25 Strategy & 28 
Planning policies

Business   
Investment 1 No Current Response

Procurement 1 12 Procurement

Climate Change   

Engagement 5 19,21 & 22 Communications
Policy 2 12 Procurement & Strategy

Council   
Advice 3 19,21 & 22 Communications

EVs 1 31 EV Charging
Policy 1 12 Procurement & Strategy

Energy   
District Heating 1 No Current Response

Green Supply 1 9, 10 Green Energy Supply
Insulation 1 23 Green Leases
Reduction 3 23 Green Leases

Renewables 7 23 Green Leases
Food   

Vegetable Diet 1 19,21 & 22 Communications
Planning   

Local Plan 1 28 Supplementary Policies
Policy 4 29 Supplementary Policies

Pollution   
Air Quality 1 26 Pollution Strategy

Transport   

Cycling & Walking 2 32 Sustainable Transport Policy

EVs 3 31 EV Charging
Public Transport 2 32 Sustainable Transport Policy

65



Traffic 1
30 Business Transport, 32 Sustainable 
Transport Policy

Waste & Recycling   
Prevention 5 34 Waste Strategy

Recycling 6
33 Commercial Food Waste & 34 Waste 
Strategy

Waste 1
33 Commercial Food Waste & 34 Waste 
Strategy

Water   
Reduction 1 20 Public Reward Scheme

66



Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) 

Title of EqIA: Climate and Environmental Emergency Strategy and Action Plan

Brief description of  
the Proposal:

Climate change and Environmental degradation are the two 
biggest threats facing the Health and Wellbeing of humanity. This 
report sets out the Councils approach to responding to the 
emergency, by measuring the local contribution to the matter and 
developing responses to reduce this contribution and respond to 
the impacts.

For all of categories below please consider:
1. Does this proposal eliminate unlawful discrimination?
2. Does this proposal advance equality of opportunity between people who share 

a protected characteristic and those who do not share it? 
3. Does this proposal foster good relations between people who share a 

protected characteristic and those who do not share it?

Statutory Considerations: Please highlight what impact could there be on people with 
protected characteristics. 

Age: The strategy and plan is focused activities that limit the 
environmental decline for young people and future generations. 
Impacts of climate change are considered to disproportionally 
impact older people/very young people, particularly those with 
pre-existing health issues. Fuel reduction activities such as those 
targeted at eliminating Fuel Poverty are likely to specifically 
improve the lives of older people in this characteristic. 

Disability: The actions in the plan do not currently have a direct local impact 
on this characteristic group, however as actions are developed 
consideration will need to be made, particularly around transport 
and design of homes. 

Gender: The actions in the plan do not currently have a direct local impact 
on this characteristic group. 

67



Gender reassignment: The actions in the plan do not currently have a direct local impact 
on this characteristic group.

Pregnancy and 
Maternity:

The actions in the plan do not currently have a direct local impact 
on this characteristic group. More broadly research is emerging 
identifying the negative impact that heatwaves and pollution 
issues such as poor air quality have on pregnant women and 
their unborn children. 

Race: Activities are unlikely to locally impact on people based on this 
characteristic group, although effort will be needed to ensure that 
the group is represented in the co-design of actions and 
consultation. Responding to the Climate emergency is intended 
to reduce severe weather impacting humans across the globe, 
limiting the rise in the health and wellbeing issues due to extreme 
weather, particularly populations in the southern hemisphere. 
This is also critical as research is emerging identifying a 
correlation between recent extreme weather events (Particularly 
those causing water shortages) and conflict and mass migration. 

Religion or belief: At present no activities set out in the strategy and action plan are 
considered to have a specific impact on people due to religion or 
belief. Consideration of religious beliefs will need to be made 
when discussing the Carbon Intensity of diet and a move away 
from meat consumption.

Sexual Orientation: At present no activities set out in the strategy and action plan will 
have a specific impact on this characteristic.

Marriage and civil 
partnership:

At present no activities set out in the strategy and action plan will 
have a specific impact on this characteristic.

Non statutory considerations: Please highlight what impact could there be on people 
experiencing social deprivation.

Social deprivation: Areas of deprivation are often those most exposed to the impact 
of severe weather, both due to geographic location and lower 
financial capacity to respond and recover from incidents. A local 
social justice and climate change assessment will need to be 
carried out to identify the exposure of people in social deprivation 
to severe weather and what actions can be taken.

68



What engagement or 
consultation has been 
carried out?

Public and Business consultation has been carried out, further 
consultation will be carried out as the work programme is 
developed, this will include consulting with stakeholder groups 
such as One Community and potentially setting up “citizen” 
groups representative of the borough. 

What could reduce any 
adverse impact on 
these groups?

The activities themselves are aimed at dealing with issues that 
could lead to adverse impacts. Careful consideration will need to 
be made for all future actions to ensure that they do not 
adversely impact upon characteristic groups.

Action Plan 

Activity Outcome Timeframe Person responsible

Local Social Justice 
and climate change 
assessment

Identify exposure of 
people in deprivation 
to severe weather 
and develop 
responses.

Completed during 
20/21.

Head of Environment

Lead Officer: Jason Light

Manager: Sarah King

Date completed; 10 October 2019

69



This page is intentionally left blank



Decription

Eastleigh Borough Council declared a climate and environmental emergency on the 18 July 2019. This report sets out 

the Councils strategy for responding to the emergency and some interim actions.

Strategic choices 

The result reflects your current status. Now identify and prioritize the SDGs that you can take action on. Tick one or 

several of the questions you want to base your strategy on:

Which positive impacts can you strengthen even further?

Which negative impacts can you eliminate or minimize?

What is needed and who can help you to fill the knowledge gaps?

Climate and Environmental Emergency 
Strategy and Action Plan

 

Direct positive

Indirect positive

No impact

Indirect negative

Direct negative

More knowledge needed

1 3 6 7 8 11 12 13 14 15

2 4 9 10 16 17

5

Page 1 of 9SDG Impact Assessment Tool

14/10/2019https://sdgimpactassessmenttool.org/assessment/climate-and-environmental-emergenc...

71



Impact Motivation

1.5 Activities around Fuel Poverty will support activities that build 

resilience to environmental, economic and social disasters. 

Impact Motivation

2.4 Sustainable food production and resilient agricultural 

practices. 

Impact Motivation

3.1 Activities around air quality have a link to the maternal 

mortality. 3.6 Sustainable Travel Strategy will have a focus on 

reducing road injuries and deaths. 3.9 Pollution strategy will have 

a focus on reducing illnesses and death from hazardous chemicals 

and pollution 

NO POVERTY
End poverty in all its forms everywhere

DIRECT POSITIVE

ZERO HUNGER
End hunger, achieve food security and improved 
nutrition and promote sustainable agriculture

INDIRECT POSITIVE

GOOD HEALTH AND WELL-BEING
Ensure healthy lives and promote well-being for all at 
all ages

DIRECT POSITIVE

Page 2 of 9SDG Impact Assessment Tool

14/10/2019https://sdgimpactassessmenttool.org/assessment/climate-and-environmental-emergenc...

72



Impact Motivation

4.7 EcoSchools programme and wider Behavioural Change 

schemes will support education for sustainable development and 

global citizenship.

Impact Motivation

5.5 The strategy and action plan has been developed in an 

inclusive manor, with women involved in the decision making 

process. Should citizens panels be taken forward every effort will 

be made to ensure that they match the demographics of 

Eastleigh and all panel members are able to equally contribute.

QUALITY EDUCATIONEnsure inclusive and equitable quality education and 
promote lifelong learning opportunities for all

GENDER EQUALITY
Achieve gender equality and empower all women and 
girls

NO IMPACT

Page 3 of 9SDG Impact Assessment Tool

14/10/2019https://sdgimpactassessmenttool.org/assessment/climate-and-environmental-emergenc...

73



Impact Motivation

6.1 Water availability at Council sites means that it will be 

available for free to residents and visitors. 6.2 Adaption plans are 

likely to include activities that protect and restore water-related 

ecosystems within the borough. 6.3 Activities that reduce the level 

of water consumed through and following development and 

increase in Grey water systems will minimise the release of 

hazardous chemicals. 6.4 Water efficiency on the Council estate 

and in partnership with residents and businesses 6.5 Water 

management plans will be considered 6.B Efficiency programmes 

will Support the participation of local communities in improving 

water management.

Impact Motivation

7.1 - 7.3 The strategy include rapidly expanding Local and 

supporting national renewable energy generation. 

CLEAN WATER AND SANITATION
Ensure availability and sustainable management of 
water and sanitation for all

DIRECT POSITIVE

AFFORDABLE AND CLEAN ENERGY
Ensure access to affordable, reliable, sustainable and 
modern energy for all

DIRECT POSITIVE

Page 4 of 9SDG Impact Assessment Tool

14/10/2019https://sdgimpactassessmenttool.org/assessment/climate-and-environmental-emergenc...

74



Impact Motivation

8.1 Business engagement will focus on sustainable economic 

growth. 8.4 Business and Council efficiency programme will help 

improve resource efficiency in consumption and production. 8.6 

Engagement is likely to be carried out with Schools and Colleges 

which should help promote youth employment, education and 

training. 

Impact Motivation

Business Engagement schemes and the development of 

programmes to directly support local businesses around 

efficiency and environmental performance support the following 

SDGs. 9.2 Promote inclusive and sustainable industrialisation 9.4 

Upgrade all industries and infrastructures for sustainability

DECENT WORK AND ECONOMIC 
GROWTH
Promote sustained, inclusive and sustainable economic 
growth, full and productive employment and decent 
work for all

DIRECT POSITIVE

INDUSTRY, INNOVATION AND 
INFRASTRUCTURE
Build resilient infrastructure, promote inclusive and 
sustainable industrialization and foster innovation

INDIRECT POSITIVE

Page 5 of 9SDG Impact Assessment Tool

14/10/2019https://sdgimpactassessmenttool.org/assessment/climate-and-environmental-emergenc...

75



Impact Motivation

10.2 Public engagement through a citizens panel should promote 

universal social, economic and political inclusion. 10.4 

Consideration of Social justice, equalities and deprivation in 

conception of actions will support the adoption of fiscal and 

social policies that promote equality.

Impact Motivation

11.1 Safe and affordable housing - Council Supplementary 

Planning Documents 11.2 Affordable and sustainable transport 

systems - Sustainable Transport Policy and associated actions 

11.5 Reduce the adverse effects of natural disasters - Resilience 

and Biodiversity strategy 11.6 Reduce the environmental impact 

of cities - Renewable Energy, Pollution Strategy and Sustainable 

Transport Strategy 11.7 Provide access to safe and inclusive green 

and public spaces - Biodiversity Strategy, Tree schemes and 

adaptation responses 11.A Strong national and regional 

development planning - Planning Policies 11.B Implement policies 

for inclusion, resource efficiency and disaster risk reduction - 

Resilience and Planning Policies

REDUCED INEQUALITIES
Reduce inequality within and among countries

INDIRECT POSITIVE

SUSTAINABLE CITIES AND 
COMMUNITIES
Make cities and human settlements inclusive, safe, 
resilient and sustainable

DIRECT POSITIVE

Page 6 of 9SDG Impact Assessment Tool

14/10/2019https://sdgimpactassessmenttool.org/assessment/climate-and-environmental-emergenc...

76



Impact Motivation

I wide range of actions support the Resource SDGs, particularly 

the waste strategy, procurement and communications 

programmes. 12.2 Sustainable management and use of natural 

resources 12.3 Halve global per capita food waste - Food waste 

and communications programme 12.4 Responsible management 

of chemicals and waste - Waste Strategy and Council own Waste 

Management plan, alongside communications supports this goal. 

12.5 Substantially reduce waste generation 12.6 Encourage 

companies to adopt sustainable practices and sustainability 

reporting 12.7 Promote sustainable public procurement practices 

- Procurement Policy and training 12.8 Promote universal 

understanding of sustainable lifestyles - Communications and 

Reward scheme.

Impact Motivation

13.1 . The strategy includes activities designed to strengthen the 

borough's resilience and adaptive capacity to climate-related 

hazards and natural disasters. 13.2 Both the strategy, actions and 

policies are designed to integrate climate change measures 

throughout. 13.3 The Communications and training programme, 

alongside business and school engagement are designed to 

improve education, awareness-raising and human and 

institutional capacity on climate change mitigation, adaptation 

and impact reduction.

RESPONSIBLE PRODUCTION AND 
CONSUMPTION
Ensure sustainable consumption and production 
patterns

DIRECT POSITIVE

CLIMATE ACTION
Take urgent action to combat climate change and its 
impacts

DIRECT POSITIVE

Page 7 of 9SDG Impact Assessment Tool

14/10/2019https://sdgimpactassessmenttool.org/assessment/climate-and-environmental-emergenc...

77



Impact Motivation

14.1 Reduce marine pollution - Waste policy 14.2 Protect and 

restore ecosystems - Biodiversity Strategy responding to Nitrate 

Issues alongside schemes in the solent SPA. 14.5 Conserve coastal 

and marine areas - Biodiversity Strategy responding to Nitrate 

Issues alongside schemes in the solent SPA. 

Impact Motivation

Tree Policy & Biodiversity Strategy with associated schemes, 

alongside additional Supplementary Planning Policies will support 

the following objectives: 15.1 Conserve and restore terrestrial and 

freshwater ecosystems 15.2 End deforestation and restore 

degraded forests 15.3 End desertification and restore degraded 

land 15.5 Protect biodiversity and natural habitats 15.9 Integrate 

ecosystem and biodiversity in governmental planning 15.A 

Increase financial resources to conserve and sustainably use 

ecosystem and biodiversity 15.A Finance and incentivise 

sustainable forest management

LIFE BELOW WATER
Conserve and sustainably use the oceans, seas and 
marine resources for sustainable development

DIRECT POSITIVE

LIFE ON LAND
Protect, restore and promote sustainable use of 
terrestrial ecosystems, sustainably manage forests, 
combat desertification, and halt and reverse land 
degradation and halt biodiversity loss

DIRECT POSITIVE

Page 8 of 9SDG Impact Assessment Tool

14/10/2019https://sdgimpactassessmenttool.org/assessment/climate-and-environmental-emergenc...

78



Impact Motivation

16.7 Integrating Community and Business engagement with Co-

Design of actions and community engagement programme will 

ensure responsive, inclusive and representative decision-making. 

This may be further improved should the Council move forward 

with Citizens Panels or a Community Climate Change Board.

Impact Motivation

17.14 By assessing the Strategy on the SDGs the Strategy and 

action plan will enhance understanding of sustainable 

development. 17.17 The Council has been taking a pro-active 

approach to developing the strategy by promoting effective 

public, public-private and civil society partnerships, building on 

the experience and resourcing strategies of partnerships. 17.19 

The actions will be measured locally allowing the Council to 

assess performance.

PEACE, JUSTICE AND STRONG 
INSTITUTIONS
Promote peaceful and inclusive societies for sustainable 
development, provide access to justice for all and build 
effective, accountable and inclusive institutions at all 
levels

INDIRECT POSITIVE

PARTNERSHIPS FOR THE GOALS
Strengthen the means of implementation and revitalize 
the global partnership for sustainable development

INDIRECT POSITIVE

Page 9 of 9SDG Impact Assessment Tool

14/10/2019https://sdgimpactassessmenttool.org/assessment/climate-and-environmental-emergenc...

79



This page is intentionally left blank



EASTLEIGH BOROUGH COUNCIL
FORWARD PLAN: October 2019 to April 2020

This Forward Plan sets out matters which may be considered by Cabinet in the four month period. It includes items on which a “key 
decision” is likely to be taken.

A KEY DECISION IS - An executive decision (whether or not taken by the Cabinet) which is likely to:

(1) result in the Council incurring expenditure or making savings which amount to either £50,000 or 20% (whichever is the 
larger) of the gross expenditure budget for the service or general function to which the decision relates; or

(2) be significant in terms of its effect on communities living or working in an area comprising two or more wards within the 
Borough of Eastleigh.

The Plan also includes matters for likely decision relating to the Council’s policy or budget framework.

KEY ITEM TO BE 
TAKEN BY

DATE 
DECISION TO 

BE TAKEN

PRE-DECISION
SCRUTINY

DESCRIPTION Contact Officer / 
Cabinet Member

24 October 2019

Yes Climate and Environmental 
Emergency Strategy and Interim 
Action Plan 

Cabinet  24 Oct 2019  Policy & 
Performance 
Scrutiny Panel

Having declared a Climate 
and Environmental 
Emergency at the 18 July 
Council meeting, the report 
will set out Eastleigh 
Borough Council’s strategy 
and interim actions for the 
next 10 years.

Jason Light, 
Strategic 
Planning Lead for 
the Environment / 

Yes Medium Term Financial Plan Cabinet  24 Oct 2019  Audit & 
Resources 
Committee

Cabinet will be asked to 
comment on and approve 
the Borough Council’s 
Medium Term Financial 
Plan.

Andy Smith, 
Finance Lead 
Specialist 
(Deputy Chief 
Financial Officer) 
/ 81

A
genda Item

 10



KEY ITEM TO BE 
TAKEN BY

DATE 
DECISION TO 

BE TAKEN

PRE-DECISION
SCRUTINY

DESCRIPTION Contact Officer / 
Cabinet Member

2

Yes Write Off Irrecoverable Debts Cabinet  24 Oct 2019  To approve the write-off of 
irrecoverable debts.

Andy Smith, 
Finance Lead 
Specialist 
(Deputy Chief 
Financial Officer) 
/ 

Yes Corporate Performance & 
Financial Monitoring 

Cabinet  24 Oct 2019  Policy & 
Performance 
Scrutiny Panel

To consider the quarterly 
report outlining the Council’s 
performance against 
outcomes in the Corporate 
Plan.

Gaetana 
Wiseman, Head 
of Performance 
and Governance 
/ 

Yes Corporate Enforcement Strategy Cabinet  24 Oct 2019  Policy & 
Performance 
Scrutiny Panel

The Corporate Enforcement 
Strategy is a draft strategy 
concerning the Council’s 
overall approach to 
Enforcement, for 
consultation with external 
stakeholders before approval 
early in 2020.

Diccon Bright, 
Strategic 
Planning 
Manager / 

82



KEY ITEM TO BE 
TAKEN BY

DATE 
DECISION TO 

BE TAKEN

PRE-DECISION
SCRUTINY

DESCRIPTION Contact Officer / 
Cabinet Member

3

Yes Upgrade of Pay on Foot Car 
Parks in Eastleigh Town Centre 

Cabinet  Meeting Date  The Pay on Foot car parks in 
Eastleigh town centre require 
a critical upgrade to their 
hardware and software for 
the chip and pin payment 
units together with a new 
server.  Approval and 
implementation will improve 
customer experience through 
the provision of a contactless 
payment facility; extend the 
life of the pay stations and 
address compliance with 
Payment Card Industry Data 
Security Standards 
(PCIDSS).

Robert Saunders, 
Local Operations 
Manager / 

Yes Eastleigh Borough Council's 
Property Assets Repair & 
Renewal Plan 

Cabinet  24 Oct 2019  Cabinet will be asked to 
approve the repair and 
renewal budget list for the 
next five years, 2019/20 to 
2023/24, following the 
collation for an asset of all 
buildings and land owned or 
leased by the Borough 
Council.  This will need to be 
reviewed and updated on an 
annual basis going forward.

Nigel Stephens, 
Lead Building 
Surveyor / 

Yes Community Investment 
Programme Scheme(s) 
Approval 

Cabinet  24 Oct 2019  To consider and approve 
projects within the 
Community Investment 
Programme (CIP).

Tom Andrews, 
Finance 
Specialist / 

83



KEY ITEM TO BE 
TAKEN BY

DATE 
DECISION TO 

BE TAKEN

PRE-DECISION
SCRUTINY

DESCRIPTION Contact Officer / 
Cabinet Member

4

Yes Property Transactions Cabinet  24 Oct 2019  To consider and approve 
property transactions.

Liz Suatt, Lead 
Asset Manager / 

14 November 2019

Yes Eastleigh Post Office Cabinet  14 Nov 2019  The viability study has led to 
the selection of a preferred 
scheme. This scheme will 
result in a much larger 
development than the 
original Cabinet Report of 13 
December 2018 described. 
Proposals include the 
following on site:

 Retail/ Restaurant;
 Offices;
 Sorting Office 

provision;
 Residential.  

Whilst the fees to develop 
the scheme sit within the 
existing allowance the 
scheme costs are 
significantly higher than the 
previous cabinet report (as 
they scheme delivers 
significantly more 
development). Thus, Cabinet 
approval is required prior to 
us commencing with the next 
design stage (RIBA Stage 2).

Andy Wright / 

84



KEY ITEM TO BE 
TAKEN BY

DATE 
DECISION TO 

BE TAKEN

PRE-DECISION
SCRUTINY

DESCRIPTION Contact Officer / 
Cabinet Member

5

Yes Development of 10 -  20 
Romsey Road - project update 
and request for further funding 

Cabinet  14 Nov 2019  This report seeks to provide 
an update to Councillors on 
the procurement of the main 
build contractor and 
development programme for 
10-20 Romsey Road, in 
addition to a request for 
further funding in order to 
cover the effects of inflation 
on build costs (as per BCIS 
data) since the original 
budget was set in 2016/17.

Jonathan Watts, 
Assistant Asset 
Manager / 

Yes Corporate Fees and Charges Cabinet  14 Nov 2019  All Pre Decision 
Scrutinies

To consider and approve 
Corporate Fees and 
Charges.

Andy Smith, 
Finance Lead 
Specialist 
(Deputy Chief 
Financial Officer) 
/ 

Yes Treasury Management Half 
Year Report 

Cabinet  14 Nov 2019  Audit & 
Resources 
Committee

To consider and approve the 
Treasury Management Half 
Year report.

Andy Smith, 
Finance Lead 
Specialist 
(Deputy Chief 
Financial Officer) 
/ 

Yes Community Investment 
Programme Scheme(s) 
Approval 

Cabinet  14 Nov 2019  To consider and approve 
projects within the 
Community Investment 
Programme (CIP).

Tom Andrews, 
Finance 
Specialist / 

85



KEY ITEM TO BE 
TAKEN BY

DATE 
DECISION TO 

BE TAKEN

PRE-DECISION
SCRUTINY

DESCRIPTION Contact Officer / 
Cabinet Member

6

Yes Property Transactions Cabinet  14 Nov 2019  To consider and approve 
property transactions.

Liz Suatt, Lead 
Asset Manager / 

16 January 2020

Yes 2020 - 2021 Borough Council 
Budget 

Cabinet  16 Jan 2020  All Pre Decision 
Scrutinies

To consider and recommend 
the 2020 – 2021 Borough 
Council Budget to Council for 
approval.

Sarah King, 
Corporate 
Director - 
Support Services 
/ 

Yes Capital and Treasury Strategy Cabinet  16 Jan 2020  Audit & 
Resources 
Committee

To consider and approve the 
Capital and Treasury 
Strategy.

Tom Andrews, 
Finance 
Specialist / 

Yes Asset Management Strategy Cabinet  16 Jan 2020  Audit & 
Resources 
Committee

Cabinet will be asked to 
consider the Council’s 
proposed Asset 
Management Strategy which 
considers the Council’s 
approach to managing 
property assets.

Liz Suatt, Lead 
Asset Manager / 

86



KEY ITEM TO BE 
TAKEN BY

DATE 
DECISION TO 

BE TAKEN

PRE-DECISION
SCRUTINY

DESCRIPTION Contact Officer / 
Cabinet Member

7

Yes Adoption of the Eastleigh 
Borough Council Air Quality 
Action Plan 2020-2025 

Cabinet  16 Jan 2020  Policy & 
Performance 
Scrutiny Panel

The Cabinet will be asked to 
approve the adoption of the 
Eastleigh Borough Council 
Air Quality Action Plan 
(AQAP), which sets out a 
collection of actions aimed at 
improving air quality across 
the Borough and particularly 
focuses on the Air Quality 
Management Areas 
(AQMAs). The AQAP is a 
Department of Environment, 
Food and Rural Affairs 
(DEFRA) requirement and 
replaces previous AQAPs 
that covered the Eastleigh 
Borough AQMAs. 

Cali Sparks, 
Sustainable 
Transport Senior 
Specialist / 
Cabinet Member 
for Environment

Yes Community Infrastructure 
Programme Scheme(s) 
Approval 

Cabinet  16 Jan 2020  To consider and approve 
projects within the 
Community Investment 
Programme (CIP).

Tom Andrews, 
Finance 
Specialist / 

Yes Property Transactions Cabinet  16 Jan 2020  To consider and approve 
property transactions.

Liz Suatt, Lead 
Asset Manager / 

18 February 2020

87



KEY ITEM TO BE 
TAKEN BY

DATE 
DECISION TO 

BE TAKEN

PRE-DECISION
SCRUTINY

DESCRIPTION Contact Officer / 
Cabinet Member

8

Yes Corporate Performance & 
Financial Monitoring 

Cabinet  18 Feb 2020  Policy & 
Performance 
Scrutiny Panel

To consider the quarterly 
report outlining the Council’s 
performance against 
outcomes in the Corporate 
Plan.

Gaetana 
Wiseman, Head 
of Performance 
and Governance 
/ 

Yes Community Investment 
Programme Scheme(s) 
Approval 

Cabinet  18 Feb 2020  To consider and approve 
projects within the 
Community Investment 
Programme (CIP).

Tom Andrews, 
Finance 
Specialist / 

Yes Property Transactions Cabinet  18 Feb 2020  To consider and approve 
property transactions.

Liz Suatt, Lead 
Asset Manager / 

19 March 2020

Yes Nitrate Neutrality Strategy and 
Action Plan 

Cabinet  19 Mar 2020  Policy & 
Performance 
Scrutiny Panel

This is the Borough Council’s 
short to medium term 
strategy to deliver nitrate 
neutrality for future 
development proposals. The 
Action Plan will set out 
options on how to mitigate 
increased nitrates as a result 
of additional housing 
development. 

 / 

Yes Community Investment 
Programme Scheme(s) 
Approval 

Cabinet  19 Mar 2020  To consider and approve 
projects within the 
Community Investment 
Programme (CIP).

Tom Andrews, 
Finance 
Specialist / 

88



KEY ITEM TO BE 
TAKEN BY

DATE 
DECISION TO 

BE TAKEN

PRE-DECISION
SCRUTINY

DESCRIPTION Contact Officer / 
Cabinet Member

9

Yes Property Transactions Cabinet  19 Mar 2020  To consider and approve 
property transactions.

Liz Suatt, Lead 
Asset Manager / 

FOOTNOTES:
Public Participation will apply to enable representations to be made at the time the decision is to be taken.
Written reports for public items will be available as part of the agenda papers and are usually available one week prior to 
the meeting.

Contact Officer: Laura Johnston – Lead Specialist – Democratic Services
Publication Date: 14 October 2019

89



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel – 2019/20

Work Programme

As at 30 September 2019

Date of 
Meeting

Item for Consideration Focus for Scrutiny Additional Attendance 
By

MAY
30/05

Parking Policy Pre-decision scrutiny Jason Light

JUL
10/07

Environment Portfolio (1)
Climate Change & 
Biodiversity

Cllr Kyrle

Quarterly Corporate & 
Financial Monitoring Report

Gaetana Wiseman/Andy 
Smith

Homelessness Prevention 
Strategy

Ross McClean

SEP
05/09

Transport Portfolio Cllr Airey

OCT
22/10

Environment Portfolio (2)
Waste & Recycling

Scrutiny of Performance and Policy; inc plans for waste 
collection in new developments 

Cllr Kyrle
Paul Naylor

Recycling Paul Naylor

Climate Change Strategy & 
Action Plan

Pre-decision scrutiny Jason Light

Residents Survey Diccon Bright/Jade Mizen

91

A
genda Item

 11



Quarterly Corporate & 
Financial Monitoring Report

Gaetana Wiseman/Andy 
Smith

NOV
18/11

Health & Wellbeing 
Portfolio

To include review of Places Leisure.

Staff turnover and other HR 
issues

Catherine Granfield

Enforcement To scrutinise the new enforcement strategy and performance 
figures

Diccon Bright/Andy 
Grandfield

Feedback on Performance 
for last quarter

DEC
09/12

Social Policy/Tackling 
Deprivation Portfolio

Cllr Campbell
Ross McClean

Houses in Multiple 
Occupation

Ross McClean

Eastleigh Borough Council’s 
Air Quality Action Plan

To scrutinise results of consultation on EBCs new Air Quality 
Action Plan ahead of Cabinet decision in January 2020.

Cali Sparks/Isabel 
Hessey

JAN
30/01/20

Economy Portfolio Cllr Pretty

Commercialisation 
Discussion
Cycling and Walking 
Strategy

Cali Sparks/Jason Light

Community Safety Review Melvin Hartley

FEB
06/02/20

General Fund Budget To scrutinise the budget Sarah King

Quarterly Corporate & 
Financial Monitoring Report

Gaetana Wiseman/Andy 
Smith

92



MAR
12/03/20

Strategy & Support 
Services (Housing)

Joint meeting with A&R or like budget invite all Cllrs to attend Diccon Bright

Aspect Housing

CAP

Items for 
2020/21

Quarterly Corporate & 
Financial Monitoring Report 
(3rd week of June 2020)

Diccon Bright

93



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	6 Enforcement Policy
	Item 6 - Appendix 1 - Policy

	8 Climate Change and Environmental Emergency Strategy and Action Plan
	Item 8 - Appendix 1 - CCEE July Council Motion
	Appendix 2 - Draft Climate Change Strategy
	Appendix 3 - Climate Change and Environmental Emergency Interim Action Plan
	Item 8 - Appendix 4 - Techincal Background Report - CO2 EmissionsV1-2....
	Item 8 - Appendix 5 - You Said We Did
	Item 8 - Appendix 6 - EqIA
	Item 8 - Appendix 7 - CCEE Sustainability appraisal

	10 Cabinet Forward Plan
	11 Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel's Work Programme

